
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Environment Committee 

Date Thursday 16 June 2016 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Leonie Cooper AM (Chair) 
Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair) 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Shaun Bailey AM 

Tony Devenish AM 
Nicky Gavron AM 
David Kurten AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Mark Roberts, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 8 June 2016 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Ed Wise, Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 4619; 
Email: ed.wise@london.gov.uk. 
 
For media enquiries please contact Mary Dolan, Telephone 020 7983 4603; 
Email: mary.dolan@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact 
the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Environment Committee 
Thursday 16 June 2016 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Ed Wise, ed.wise@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4619 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Membership of the Committee  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the membership and chairing arrangements 

for the Environment Committee, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London 

Assembly on 13 May 2016, as follows: 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Chair) 

Caroline Russell AM (Deputy Chair) 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM 

Shaun Bailey AM 

Tony Devenish AM 

Nicky Gavron AM 

David Kurten AM 
 
 

mailto:ed.wise@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

4 Terms of Reference  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the following terms of reference for the 

Committee: 

 

1.  To examine and report from time to time on –  

 the strategies, policies and actions of the Mayor and the 

Functional Bodies; 

 matters of importance to Greater London 

 

as they relate to the environment and sustainable development in London. 

 

2. To consider environmental matters on request from another standing 

committee and report its opinion to that standing committee. 

 

3. To take into account in its deliberations the cross cutting themes of: the 

health of persons in Greater London; the achievement of sustainable 

development in the United Kingdom; climate change; and the promotion of 

opportunity. 

 

4. To respond on behalf of the Assembly to consultations and similar processes 

when within its terms of reference. 
 
 

5 Standing Delegation of Authority  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the following standing delegation: 

 

At its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, the Assembly agreed to delegate a general authority to 

Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees to respond on the relevant committee 

or sub-committees behalf, following consultation with the lead Members of the party Groups 

on the committee or sub-committee, where it is consulted on issues by organisations and 

there is insufficient time to consider the consultation at a committee meeting. 
 
 

6 Minutes (Pages 5 - 44) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 9 March 2016 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

 The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 44 is attached for Members and officers only 

but is available from the following area of the Greater London Authority’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment


 

5 
 

7 Summary List of Actions (Pages 45 - 48) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ed Wise; ed.wise@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4619 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from its previous meetings. 
 
 

8 Action Taken under Delegated Authority (Pages 49 - 50) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ed Wise; ed.wise@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4619 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the action taken by the former Chair of the 

Environment Committee, under delegated authority, namely to agree, in 

consultation with the then party Group Lead Members, the Committee’s report on 

the environmental pressures of London’s long-term growth. 
 
 

9 Environmental Pressures of London's Long Term Growth (Pages 51 - 96) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ian Williamson, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6541 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the report on the environmental pressures 

of London’s long-term growth, Growing, growing, gone: Long-term sustainable 

growth for London, as attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 
 

 The appendix to the report set out on pages 57 to 96 is attached for Members and officers only 

but is available from the following area of the Greater London Authority’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:ed.wise@london.gov.uk
mailto:ed.wise@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment


 

6 
 

10 Environmental Challenges and Priorities for the New Mayoralty  
(Pages 97 - 98) 

 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ian Williamson, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6541 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the report as background to putting questions to invited guests on 

environmental challenges and priorities of the new Mayoralty, and note the 

subsequent discussion; and 

  

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion.   
 
 

11 Environment Committee Work Programme (Pages 99 - 104) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ian Williamson, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6541 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree to use its next formal meeting on 13 July 2016 for: 

 A question and answer session with invited guests concerning the 

Mayor’s environmental priorities; and 

 A question and answer session with invited guests concerning air 

pollution in London and the proposed ‘T-Charge’. 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for the question and 

answer sessions at the Committee’s meeting on 13 July 2016. 

  

(c) Note the record of the Committee’s visit to Millbrook Proving Ground, as 

attached at Appendix 1 to the report.  
 
 

12 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 13 July 2016 at 2.00 pm in the Chamber, 

City Hall. 
 
 

13 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v1/2016 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 16 June 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Chairman of LFEPA; Chairman of the London Local 
Resilience Forum; Member, LB Bexley 

Kemi Badenoch AM  

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Member, LFEPA; Congress of Local and Regional 
Authorities (Council of Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LFEPA 

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Member, LFEPA 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority] 
 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Ed Wise, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4619 

E-mail: ed.wise@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Environment Committee 
Date: Wednesday 9 March 2016 
Time: 2.00 pm 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at: www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  

 
Present: 
 
Darren Johnson AM (Chair) 
Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Nicky Gavron AM 
Stephen Knight AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 An apology for absence was received from James Cleverly AM MP, for whom Tony Arbour 

AM substituted. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment


Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 

Wednesday 9 March 2016 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 4 February 2016 be signed by the Chair as 

a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Response to Domestic Solar Energy Report, Bring me Sunshine! (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 

 

That the letter from the Mayor, sent in response to the Committee’s investigation 

into domestic solar energy, Bring me sunshine!, be noted. 

 
 
6   Mayoral Progress on Environmental Objectives, 2012-2016 (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on the Mayor’s progress on environmental objectives to the following 

invited guests: 

 Matthew Pencharz, Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy; and  

 James Murray, Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen. 

 

6.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

6.3 Resolved:  

 

(a) That the report and discussion be noted; and 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 

Wednesday 9 March 2016 

 

 
 

party Group Lead Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion. 

 
 
7   The Committee's Work, 2012 - 16 (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

That the report on the Committee’s work between 2012 – 2016 be noted. 

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Chair explained that this was the final meeting of the Environment Committee in the 

current Assembly term.  The London Assembly’s Annual Meeting, due to take place on 

Friday, 13 May 2016, will decide which committees to establish for the 2016/17 Assembly 

Year and a timetable of meetings for those committees. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 

9.1 There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent. 

 

9.2 The Chair, Darren Johnson AM, thanked Members for their contribution to the Committee’s 

work and the Committee’s officers for their excellent support over the previous year.  He 

gave especial thanks to the Deputy Chair, Murad Qureshi AM, and Stephen Knight AM for 

their previous work as Chairs of the Committee. 

 

9.3 The Deputy Chair offered thanks to the Chair for his outstanding contribution over previous 

years: not only as Chair of the Environment Committee, but also for his wider contribution to 

the London Assembly since the start of the Greater London Authority.  The Deputy Chair 

highlighted Assembly Member Johnson’s role in collaborative work with all party Groups in 

finding common ground and building consensus: a role recently highlighted in the 

publication of the Committee’s report, A Growing Problem: Long-term sustainable growth for 

London.  
 
10   Close of Meeting 

 

10.1 The meeting ended at 4.19pm. 

 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 

Wednesday 9 March 2016 

 

 
 

 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Ed Wise, Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 4619; 

Email: ed.wise@london.gov.uk. 
 
 

Page 8



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Environment Committee – 9 March 2016 

 
Transcript of Item 6: Mayoral Progress on Environmental Objectives 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  Thank you.  This brings us on to our main item of business today, mayoral 

progress on environmental objectives, and we are hearing both from Matthew Pencharz, the Deputy Mayor for 

Environment and Energy, and from James Murray, Editor-in-Chief of BusinessGreen.  Welcome to both of you 

this afternoon.   

 

We will start off this first section on carbon emissions. What is your view of the Mayor’s work in cutting carbon 

emissions? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  If you do not mind, Chair, I would just 

say, understandably, I am sure you are going to want to back-cast quite a bit of the last eight years, but it is 

worth noting, because you published this report1 today.  I must say I think it is a very good report, in fact, and I 

have read it on my Tube journeys up and down to the opening of a park earlier this morning.  Perhaps it is a bit 

negative about what we have been up to, but I think in large part it is recommending what we are doing, and I 

hope very much, in fact, that some of the things we have been doing towards the end of this administration 

have been very much doing what this report is recommending the next Mayor to do.  Particularly, I am quite 

keen on the London Energy Plan, which is referred to in some detail in your report.  That is just one of a 

variety of reports that my team and the wider Greater London Authority (GLA) have been publishing recently: 

the Green Infrastructure Task Force, Circular Economy Route Map, and the Sustainable Drainage Action Plan.  

My hope is [to provide] a policy base for the next Mayor and for this Committee, however it is reconstituted 

after May, to take forward the agenda which this Mayor has been working on. 

 

Turning to the question on carbon emissions, mindful of the astonishing population increase this city has seen 

- far greater than we had expected or projected when these strategies were written eight or so years ago - we 

have made some pretty remarkable progress, I think.  I am sure I will come into some criticisms shortly, but 

certainly our point of view is when you have seen a population increase of around 1 million people and you see 

the gross value added (GVA) of the city going up by some 20%, yet we have seen our own carbon emissions 

coming down by 14% by 2008, it does show you - the same goes for waste as well, by the way - that we have 

disconnected what is always perceived to be an inevitable increase in population and economic activity from 

carbon emissions.  It does show you that technology and some behaviour change can really be the solution to 

the climate agenda.   

 

As I said, we have seen a 20% reduction in per capita emissions, despite that increase in GVA, and our 

individual programmes have, in large part, been delivering.  I am sure, understandably, the Committee will want 

to focus on the ones where there have been some challenges, and we have obviously discussed these 

previously in detail, and I am sure we will go over them again.  I do believe that the RE:FIT programme has 

been a great success and has succeeded in introducing energy efficiencies to a huge number of buildings 

across London: 607 is the last figure I was told.  The Government has obviously sought to roll that framework 

out across the country, which suggests that it is quite a success.  RE:NEW clearly has been more challenging, 

and I think the Committee is fully aware of why that is.  There have been changes in Energy Company 

Obligation (ECO) funding that do disrupt the programme, and we have constantly been recommending to 

                                                 
1 Growing, Growing, Gone: long term sustainable growth for London:  https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-
assembly/growing-growing-gone-long-term-sustainable-growth-london 

Page 9



 

 

Government that there should be a regional target for the London region, which they do not give us, etc.  

Despite that, we have made some pretty good progress there.  110,000 homes have been retrofitted, and 

570,000 since 2008 in the wider market in London.  We are making progress there.  I think this administration 

would accept that we would like to have gone faster, but there are external reasons for why that has happened 

which the Committee is aware of, but I am sure you will ask me more questions about that later on.   

 

When it comes to decentralised energy and a cleaner energy supply for London, again we have been making 

progress from what was a very low base.  The Committee has again written in detail on solar power and the 

potential for solar.  It is worth remembering that from pretty much a zero baseline, we have had 330,000 

square metres of 30 megawatts capacity installed since 2008.  That is not to be sniffed at, I do not think.  It is 

interesting, in fact, that some Ofgem figures suggest that we are actually the fourth region in 12 on 

community solar.  It is not across all sectors that London particularly performs badly, but we are not doing too 

badly there and we are middle-ranking when it comes to nondomestic solar.  I know that people will choose to 

find the worst figures, and that is understandable; that is not a criticism.  Actually, London is not doing as 

badly as you might have thought from some of the bald figures we often hear about solar.   

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  Community was something we flagged up as having real potential in our 

recent solar report.2 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  That London is already fourth out of 

12 regions suggests that is absolutely the case.  Some of the problems with solar: we all know it is 

landlord-tenants, it is who owns it.  I can think of a particular example where an institution, which I cannot 

name, has been offered free solar panels: fantastic.  They are facing the right way: even better.  However, it is 

having issues with the trustees over who owns the building, and so on.  It is a classic example, and we have all 

heard them, of why it can be difficult to install solar, especially in London, where the ownership is far fewer 

owner-occupiers, etc, than elsewhere in the United Kingdom (UK).   

 

The reduction in costs of photo voltaics (PV) and the fact that it is clearly going to reach grid parity - I would 

guess in the next two years or so - would suggest that, yes, the Feed-in Tariff (FIT) changes from the 

Government, although they have changed it slightly, will have an impact.  It will not be anything like the 

doomsday scenario that perhaps was raised by the industry, and I would say that I hope that it will continue at 

some speed into the next mayoral term.  I believe the Labour candidate’s [for Mayor, Rt Hon Sadiq Khan MP] 

manifesto has been published today, and I am afraid I have not read it yet - maybe these people have read it 

here - but I assume he makes references to solar.  I know the Conservative candidate [Zac Goldsmith MP] is 

also quite keen on solar.  It would suggest to me that, whoever wins, solar should play a part in the next 

London Plan and the Building Regulations.   

 

This brings me on to Building Regulations.  Through our planning policies, which are way ahead of Part L of 

the UK’s building standards, we really have delivered at some scale cleaner, greener buildings and also new 

energy centres.  I am very pleased, clearly, that the Mayor has decided to carry on with his proposed 

ratcheting-up of that, and I am sure that the next Mayor will deliver on that, but you will probably have to ask 

them when they are sitting in this seat in a few months’ time about how exactly they plan to progress to the 

Zero Carbon Standard.   

 

Overall, I think we are making pretty good progress, mindful of that population increase.  There are clearly 

challenges ahead.  The Committee is very right to note that the London Energy Plan scenarios do suggest that, 

in order to meet our 2025 and then tie to 2050 targets does require retrofitting at some scale.  The RE:FIT 

                                                 
2 Bring me sunshine, https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/bring-me-sunshine-
how-london%E2%80%99s-homes-could  

Page 10

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/bring-me-sunshine-how-london%E2%80%99s-homes-could
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/bring-me-sunshine-how-london%E2%80%99s-homes-could


 

 

system we have is working well and will expand over time, and I think it will capture the public sector buildings.  

On the commercial side, the Business Energy Challenge, which the Mayor has set up, has had two very 

successful years.  I hope the next Mayor will carry that on.  You are really seeing more and more companies 

entering that competition and that sense of recognition as well from the Mayor, and it is really delivering at 

some scale.  The domestic side - we have to be honest - remains a challenge, and I would recommend to 

whoever comes in that they really focus on finding a retrofit solution that does not depend on Government 

grant.  It is quite clear to me, having sat in this seat for just less than four years, where there have been two 

very big changes in the ecosystem which disrupt the whole programme, to be honest, it is time that this 

administration, working with the boroughs, finds a financial solution or a package that can deliver retrofit at 

scale without relying on Government grant.  It seems to me that it keeps changing and it is better to have one 

programme that you can give some certainty to for a mayoral term or whatever that might be.   

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  That was nicely reflective, Matthew.  We will pick up on some of the detail 

when other Members come in.  James, I am going to ask you for, firstly, your general reflections on the 

Mayor’s environmental record, and if you want to address more specifically then the carbon dioxide (CO2) 

target question. 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  Thank you very much, and thanks for the opportunity to 

speak.  I must admit there was a piece in the Guardian this morning where Isabel Hardman reflected on the 

fact she had been asked to sit on an expert panel, and she said that, as a journalist, that was a bit confusing 

because ‘journalist’ is an antonym for ‘expert’ on anything.   

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I am a former journalist; I will defend 

you, James! 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  I have to second that slightly.  My detailed knowledge 

of some of these policies maybe is not as sharp as it should be, but as somebody who has reported on it for the 

last nearly ten years, I have a very good impressionistic understanding of some of these issues.   

 

Starting on the climate change agenda, I would absolutely agree with much of what Matthew said.  There has 

been some really good progress.  I do not think it has been trumpeted as much as it should be.  I do not think 

there has been the media profile or maybe as much promotion of what has been going on, but there has been 

some good progress.  You also have to reflect on the fact that a lot of the emissions reductions that have to 

come will be outside of the Mayor’s remit.  We have a national challenge to decarbonise our power supplies.  If 

that delivers, then we will see significant reductions in CO2 across London.  We have a national challenge to 

deal with emissions from transport and, if that delivers, we will see big impacts across London.  There is a lot 

that, unfortunately, the Mayor does not necessarily have the full influence to do.  Then also there are the very 

specific challenges that we know London has in that retrofitting, in particular, is going to be more expensive in 

London than in other parts of the country.  That is why ECO tended to shift to other cities.  Solar is more 

challenging in London for the reasons that Matthew has touched upon.  I think there has been good progress. 

 

However - and there is always a huge ‘but’ there - the Mayor has been in power for about a fifth of the period 

that was available to almost completely decarbonise this city.  Eight years through to 2050.  By 2050 we are 

meant to have reduced emissions by 80% in the UK, bearing in mind that agriculture and other sectors are 

going to be harder to decarbonise.  London will have to be almost fully decarbonised by 2050.  It sounds a 

long way away, but by that point my young son will be my age now and, judging by pension reforms, I will still 

be working.  It is not that far away at all, and the Mayor has eaten into 20% of that available time, and the 

next Mayor will only have a quarter of that available time to deliver what is a truly fundamental transformation 

in this city, arguably the biggest and fastest transformation this city has ever seen in its entire history. 

Page 11



 

 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  Are you saying we have seen progress but we have not seen the dramatic 

step-change that we need? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  Yes.  We have absolutely seen some encouraging 

progress but it is nowhere near the scale of the change we need.  Even if you accept that a lot of those big 

emission reductions will be back-loaded as things like electric cars and clean energy become cheaper, and a lot 

of it will come through in the 2030s and the 2040s - and let us hope that is true - if you have looked at your 

report and your other recent reports, we are clearly behind the curve on where we would hope to be if we were 

to deliver a cost-effective scale of reduction.  There is this fundamental problem that it has been good but it is 

nowhere near fast enough.   

 

There is lots that you can say about the specific policies: have they been ambitious enough?  Should we have 

been looking at upgrading buses, rather than making a step-change towards electric and hydrogen and those 

sorts of transformations?  Should the Congestion Charge have been allowed to sit static for quite as long as it 

has?  There has been a lot of good progress on biodiversity, the natural environment and parks and the like, 

but that feels like a very minor issue against these really big-picture transformations.   

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  We did give that a good going-over last year.  You certainly can see we dealt 

with biodiversity and flooding and so on.   

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  Yes.  You cannot stress enough that there has been 

progress and it is very challenging, but also you just have to set it against the scale of the transformation.  The 

final thing that I would probably say as a journalist is: has the Mayor really used the platform that is available 

to hammer home, time and again, as one of the most powerful politicians in the country, that this 

transformation is critical, this transformation has to happen, that the low-carbon economy is one of the most 

important sectors of the entire UK economy?  The answer to that is probably not.  If you look at the way some 

city leaders and regional leaders like Arnold Schwarzenegger [former Governor of California] and 

Michael Bloomberg [former Mayor of New York City] have become integrally associated with this agenda 

because they use every chance they get to talk it up and to really hammer home quite how important it is, I 

think an opportunity has been missed, particularly over the last four years, for the Mayor to do that, (a) by 

making more of the good things that have been done, and (b) by just really hammering the Government more 

broadly on the big, fundamental transformation that needs to happen. 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Matthew, just to follow up on the emissions point, having 

pledged to cut emissions faster to 2025 than the national target, could the Mayor have made greater use of his 

own powers and resources and relied less on national policy to deliver those reductions? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  James has touched on a point that 

we think it is important.  When we published the Climate Change Mitigation [and Energy} Strategy (CCMES) 

towards the beginning of this administration, he did set out the proportions that, in our view, back then, were 

Government action and were committed Government action and future Government action and all the rest of 

it.  James has touched on that, and I have the figures here.  Obviously they are in the report, and it is worth 

noting that it was not all to be done by us and, arguably, some of the decarbonisation, although, in fairness to 

the UK Government, its coal announcement at the backend of last year is very progressive.  I think we are one 

of the first countries that was previously totally based on coal for our power supply to come off coal in the next 

decade.  It is a quietly exciting moment, and we have seen very rapid decarbonisation of the electricity grid in 

recent years as we have seen some of the big coal plants come offline.   

 

Page 12



 

 

That does not go away from the fact that we have obviously had difficulties, and I mentioned in the retrofit 

space particularly, in our built environment.  It is worth remembering, of course, that around 80% of our 

emissions are from buildings, and most of those buildings will still stand in 50 years’ time.  It is a big job there. 

 

In answer to your question, I hear the point, which I do not think is fair, that he has not shouted from the 

rooftops about it, but it is worth noting that he went to Conference of the Parties (COP) and played a big role 

in the C40 event there.  We have maintained our engagement as a world city leading in this.  Internationally, 

certainly, we are very much seen as the leader in this space, perhaps not as much as we might want to back 

home in the UK.  The Mayor has pulled the levers he can.  We have fought to keep and we are maintaining our 

building standards.  The Government has sought to weaken them.  Half the country’s development is in 

London.  That is quite a big statement to say, “No, we will carry on with our building standards”.   

 

As part of our transport work, we have been doing things around the ultra-low emissions zone.  Cycling has 

doubled.  The carbon emissions from transport per kilometre travelled have really gone down.  When it comes 

to the biodiesel project, which started in this term, we now have a third of our buses running on a B20 blend, 

which is creating circularity among that waste product that used to get exported or lost outside of London, but 

it also will reduce carbon emissions from the bus fleet by a substantial amount before we transition in due 

course to zero-emission buses, but that is a decade away, realistically.   

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  Just on the retrofit programme, your advice to whomever is the next Mayor is 

to stop trying to follow whatever flavour of the month national Government is going for in terms of a scheme 

and just develop a bespoke London scheme that suits the needs of London and provides continuity and finds a 

way of paying for that? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes.  My strong advice is to find a 

financial model product that works without relying on Government subsidy.  ECO is not Government, it comes 

from all our energy bills, but effectively Government controls the subsidy because it is constantly twiddled with 

and causes uncertainty.  When the Government changed the ECO at the end of - I think it was - 2013, there 

was a sudden hiatus while we worked out what that meant.  In some ways it was quite good because it pushed 

it out further, so it gave you some certainty for some of the programmes because you needed to spend the 

money within a certain timeframe of building the deals, the programmes and the projects, which take some 

time.  It was a change in the system, and then the Chancellor again has changed the ECO framework in the 

Comprehensive Spending Review in the autumn.  It is the uncertainty and the changing that is difficult.  We 

need certainty.  Building a project to retrofit x-hundred units if you are a social housing provider is not small 

beer.  It takes a while to work out how to build the financial model, etc, and then go out to tender and Official 

Journal of the European Union (OJEU) it and whatever.   

 

The next Mayor needs to find a way - in the way we have with RE:FIT, which has worked in my view, at scale - 

where we could finance from the market to deliver retrofit at scale within this city.  There are things like 

Energiesprong which we are trialling.  Maybe that is a solution, certainly for certain building archetypes.  That 

would be my strong advice, and I have said this before.  We have the resources and the brainpower in working 

with the boroughs to be able to build that.  The next Mayor would then have four years, hopefully extending 

to post 2020, to really deliver that at the scale we need to. 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  James, would you echo that advice? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  Yes, I would follow up on that and agree entirely.  Grant 

schemes definitely do still have a role to play.  It is a bit of a travesty, in my view, that the current Government 

has cut the funding for ECO and we are only going to see a million homes upgraded nationwide during this 

Page 13



 

 

Parliament, when I think we had well over 2 million in the last parliament.  To be rolling back on energy 

efficiency when that is the most cost-effective way of cutting emissions is disgraceful, in my view.  It is a really, 

really short-term model, given it is such a small amount on the energy bill.   

 

However, grants are only going to take you so far, and there absolutely has to be a financing solution.  One of 

the first big interviews I ever got when we launched BusinessGreen back in 2006 was with Richard Lambert, 

who was then Director-General of the Confederation of British Industry .  This was before the banking crash.  

He said, on this, the banks have absolutely failed us.  If you think about energy efficiency - and this also 

actually applies to microgeneration and solar - the problem is it is an upfront cost investment that gives you 

savings in the long term.  Whenever you have that model, finance should solve the problem.  That is what a 

mortgage or a loan is there for.  He said, right back in 2006, the high street banks failed to put together a 

really comprehensive green loan package and say, “We will fund your energy efficiency upgrade, and it will 

reduce your energy bills by £200 to £300 a year.  By the way, you have to pay us back £200 a year”.  That is 

what finance is for.  That is how a loan system should work.  It is an obvious answer and it is a market failure 

that no one has found a way to resolve that problem.  I agree entirely with Matthew that until we do resolve 

that problem, we are never going to have energy efficiency upgrades at scale because it cannot all be done 

through grant schemes. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Given that we have seen a failure of national programmes which focus predominantly 

on grant or financing solutions, effectively giving financial incentives to do things like home retrofitting and 

indeed solar installations, a similar sort of issue, to work effectively in London - and I think we can all point to 

issues like the tenant-landlord split and leasehold properties and all sorts of other complexities that effectively 

mean that it does not matter what the financial incentive is, it does not enable that work to happen - is it time 

really to think of a different solution to simple financial incentives?  Do we need a more regulatory approach to 

installing insulation and renewables in a city as complicated as London?  Do we need to just make it a 

requirement that these things are fitted? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  My view would be absolutely, yes, but there is a hybrid 

approach.  Policy Exchange have recently [published] an absolutely excellent report  on exactly this issue, and 

they were arguing fora stick-and-carrot approach around Stamp Duty [Land Tax], which says, when people 

move, if the property is of a certain level, the Stamp Duty will be higher, and if it is properly energy-efficient, 

the Stamp Duty would be quite substantially lower.  [It would be] Fiscally neutral to HM Treasury, so the 

deficit does not lose out in any way, shape or form, but then there is suddenly a real incentive for when people 

either move in or they are about to sell to fund that upgrade.  We are in an absurd situation now.  When you 

apply for a mortgage, it asks you how much you spend on your energy bills, and you are meant to tell them 

how much you have spent on the energy bills of the house that you are leaving, which is absolutely, palpably 

absurd.  There has to be a better energy performance standard for the building which gets you better terms 

with your mortgage, so there is that incentive, and it also gives you potential Stamp Duty.  In answer to your 

point, I would argue that absolutely should come with stronger regulation.  The killing off of the ‘conservatory 

tax’, as the Daily Mail branded it, was ridiculous.  If people are doing upgrade work, that is surely the time to 

spend a little bit more and make sure your home is energy-efficient. 

 

Finally, in this city, the policing of the private rented sector is nowhere near strong enough.  Obviously that 

requires investment, but there should be policing of landlords to properly say, “This building is not fit for 

purpose.  This building is not warm enough.  If you are charging me £1,500 a month, I expect a minimum 

standard of warmth”.  I think there should be much stronger sticks in that field. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  One of the issues you raised was the stick as well as the carrot, but it is still a financial 

stick in terms of a penalty, which, if the problem is the terms of your lease do not enable you to do it, let us 

Page 14



 

 

say, then it does not matter how big the financial incentive or the financial stick is, you are in a quandary, 

whereas if there is a regulation that overrides what it says in your lease, then you can do it anyway.  I think that 

is the sort of complex, technical legal issues we face in London, that almost every level of financial incentive 

has not worked in some cases.  Matthew, looking back the challenge of getting financial incentives alone, 

whether it is through ECO or Green Deal, which we know did not really work, or even FIT, the failure of these 

policies in London, is it time for a more regulatory approach for London?  Is it going to take that to cut 

through? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I do not think it would surprise you 

terribly that I am not convinced that regulation is necessarily the solution to all this.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  What is, if it is not regulation?  Is it bigger and bigger financial incentives? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Fiscal drivers.  The Stamp Duty idea is 

a very attractive one, in fact.  I assume we are not going to discuss air pollution, but if you look at -- 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  We can get there. 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  We are going to come on to that, yes. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We have been there so many times 

before. 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  We will look at that in a few moments. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  If you look at what the fiscal driver of 

Vehicle Excise Duty (VED) and capital allowance and so on has done when it comes to decarbonisation of our 

vehicle fleets and all the negative consequences that has had, it is a very big nudge.  I think the Stamp Duty 

idea or other ideas people are coming up with - a local authority having a charge over a property that can be 

paid back through energy efficiency - may well have the outcome that we want to see.  If you see what it did 

with cars, it flipped it in eight or nine years.  As you can see, the Stamp Duty idea is quite attractive as long as 

it is fiscally neutral to HM Treasury, because that is clearly where they are going to go, “Hang on here”.  It is an 

attractive one for those who can afford to pay and are buying and selling homes.  Clearly there is the issue to 

do with social housing and the private rented sector.  I believe there is a regulation coming in that if you are 

privately renting property, there has to be on the scheme by a certain year.  That is coming in, but again the 

local authorities are going to have to ensure that that is enforced.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  I am told that is not now coming in because it relied on the Green Deal being in place 

to finance it, and that has ended so that regulation apparently does not stand.  That is what I have been told.   

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We would have to get back to you on 

that: sorry, Stephen. 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  It was certainly a coalition battleground.  I am not sure 

exactly where it has landed post-election. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  Just on that, the housing market can be very dysfunctional given that 

if you have a like-for-like property, new build, and a Grade II listed property standing side by side, invariably 

Page 15



 

 

the Grade II listed property would be more expensive than the newer building, even though it is more 

energy-efficient.  We have a long way to go to get to parity on that front.   

 

Can I just come back to the energy front?  We only recently had the Mayor’s Energy Plan released, Matthew, at 

the back end of his time here.  Is that not very telling of the priority that the Mayor gave energy issues in his 

eight years here? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  No, I do not think that is fair at all 

because the London Energy Plan came off the London Infrastructure Plan.  Again, your report refers to the fact 

that the Infrastructure Plan thought it would be a 20% increase in energy capacity that the city would need in 

2050, thinking of the population increase.  We wanted to interrogate that properly to see what that really 

meant, because, depending on the decarbonisation of the grid and coming off natural gas for our heating, that 

would have clearly had quite serious consequences for our carbon emissions.  That is why we commissioned the 

London Energy Plan.   

 

We did the (CCMES) back at the beginning of the administration.  There have been challenges; we have gone 

through them in some detail.  We have been delivering that, and I think we have been making some pretty fair 

progress, mindful of population increase, the financial crisis and the recession, and then the recovery, clearly.  I 

wanted the London Energy Plan specifically to inform this authority and, in fairness, the next Mayor, when it 

comes to making the policies that he - we know it is going to be a “he”, sorry, Stephen [Knight], either a 

Conservative or Labour Mayor - should make and what policy interventions should be made by London to get 

to the target we want to in the most affordable way.  In some ways, it shows you the priorities the 

administration chose in that, as we are coming to the end, we want to help to put in a policy base and inform 

them about how to go forward after May this year.   

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  I am sure you will understand that the new incoming Mayor is 

obviously going to take time to reassure himself that the plan itself is something he wants to sign up to.  

James, what is your view of what has been released two weeks ago?  Is that a good legacy to leave or is it a 

reflection of what has happened over the last eight years? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  I have to admit it is one of the things that I have not 

looked at in as much detail as I should.  Yes.  It is, again, a more impressionistic view.  I would just go back to 

Matthew’s point that maybe the Mayor has not shouted the progress from the rooftops of what is going on in 

this field.  I would argue that is absolutely part of the deal.  There is a paucity of leadership around climate 

change, and we saw around the Paris summit [COP 21] quite how much momentum you can build, how much 

business interest you can garner and how much investment you can mobilise when really powerful political 

leaders are willing to stand up and say, “This is important.  This is non-negotiable.  This is our long-term goal”.  

I would argue the question is whether that really has been done sufficiently and regularly enough over the last 

eight years.   

 

In some ways, maybe the Energy Plan is a case in point.  I do not doubt that there are some really exciting 

things in there that you could trumpet from the rooftops and that you could push out on the news and you 

could do exclusive interviews around and you could really promote far and wide, telling everyone in this city 

that this really exciting transformation is coming.  That clearly has not really happened, and there is a sense 

that we find ourselves talking to people on the Environment Committee, with an environment professional and 

an environment reporter, stuck in that ‘green ghetto’ once again.   

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  Matthew, just coming back on your comments earlier about solar 

power, you are right that community energy has made a fair amount of progress, but can you really take credit 

Page 16



 

 

for that?  It is those community energy programmes themselves, and they have had a very difficult time with 

all the tariff changes and what-have-you.  What can we say that the Mayor actually assisted with in community 

energy? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I would not say that I was taking 

credit.  What I was trying to say is that this Committee has been very critical of this administration for not 

having deployed solar at the same rate as the rest of the country, and the point I was trying to make is if you 

look at different sectors, we are broadly where you might expect us to be, mindful of all the challenge we have 

had.  When it comes to community solar, we have had the roundtables with the community solar industry and 

with the solar industry itself, and we have certainly been working with them.  I believe I appeared with 

somebody from Brixton Repowering, I recall, sitting here in fact, on this issue.  We have been involved in some 

of the bringing together of all the parties and helping them along. 

 

It is worth noting, of course, that community energy people tend to be working with their local authority.  With 

the Brixton Repowering people, they are sitting on a London Borough of Lambeth asset, ie the estate at 

Brixton Hill; I cannot remember the name.  That has generally been the case in the community energy thing.  

Clearly, it is more partnership with the London borough than it is with us as the regional authority. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  Just coming back to solar power, yes: we have heard [about] all the 

barriers.  We have analysed it.  You know it.  However, there are parts of London where you could have 

pursued, such as in the suburbs and in places like Bromley, Havering and Hillingdon.  London is not just the 

urban centre.  It is not just the Islingtons and Westminsters of the world where there are practical difficulties of 

moving around and getting solar packed in.  You have whole neighbourhoods in the suburbs where, quite 

frankly, if you go through on a train through London, you will not see much of that, but if you go through 

other regions in the country, you will see a lot of that.  I am just surprised.  We have all come up with the same 

explanations for why, for example, energy efficiency has not been done, for the reasons usually for solar power 

in central London.  Should not the suburbs have got a better take in this, and is that not the strategic 

responsibility of the Mayor to push programmes into these areas? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I am just going to rehearse what we 

said before on this in that we know that even in the suburbs, and increasingly over the last decade - it feeds 

into the wider conversation about housing, clearly - there are far fewer owner-occupiers, even in the suburban 

bits of the areas of London that you named than their equivalent suburbs elsewhere in the country.  Similarly, 

too, there are more conservation areas here in London.   

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair) :  Just to clarify, we did discount all of those in our report, so we took out the 

non-owner-occupiers, we took out the conservation areas, we took out the difficult buildings and so on, and 

even when we discounted all of those we were still far lower than the rest of the country, even when we 

discounted all of the hard-to-reach properties.   

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  That was the analysis made by the 

Environment Committee and I am not questioning that at all, but there is not really much more I can add, I do 

not think, to what I have said about what you feel to be the lack of solar deployment in London.  I would refer 

you back to some of the Ofgem figures I quoted at the beginning of this session in that London is more of a 

challenge than it is elsewhere.  Despite that, we are still mid-table or even higher than mid-table, in the top 

third, in some of the rankings you could do, depending on the different sectors.   

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  Let me move on to another area, the Zero Carbon Homes Standards in 

London.  Now that the Government has suspended its implementation nationally, the replacement is in the 

Page 17



 

 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG).  Is that going to be strong enough to have the same results, given 

one of the powers the Mayor has, at least, is the London Plan? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I certainly hope so, but that is more a 

question for the next administration, really, because the next SPG is going to be their responsibility, and 

obviously -- 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  OK, so you are recommending that they do this? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Absolutely, and I believe both the 

main candidates have said they would wish to continue. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  I understand amendments to the London Plan are currently going 

through.  It did not have this in that at this time.  You are waiting for the next administration to do that? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The current Mayor has said very 

clearly that it was his intention to continue with Zero Carbon Homes.  I do not believe that we have laid before 

the SPG on exactly the standards that would mean.  I certainly, sitting from my position, am very pleased that 

the Mayor did that.  I am also equally pleased that I believe both the main candidates have said they wish to go 

to that too.  Clearly, the new Mayor will want to do a new London Plan in which some of the issues that we 

have been discussing - when it comes to deployment of solar, etc - with the PV costs having come down, so 

you do not get tied up in a viability disagreement with developers, that you can have some of the levels of 

solar this Committee is clearly wanting and certainly which the Conservative candidate wants.   

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  I do think the Assembly needs to reject that amendment going 

through the London Plan, but I will leave that to our planning colleagues to do that.   

 

Can I just move on to another area of questioning?  In the GLA Group, do you think enough is being done on 

energy and carbon reduction?  I know the Fire Service [London Fire Brigade] has probably done the most, but 

it does not have the impact that Transport for London (TfL) has or, dare I say, the Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS).   

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I would say that the LFB deserve the 

praise you gave them.  Across all sectors, transport as well, the Fire Authority [London Fire and Emergency 

Planning Authority, LFEPA] and those colleagues who are on LFEPA - I congratulate you and I congratulate 

the officers there as well - have been very progressive indeed, and it has been fantastic working with them.  I 

would not accept the criticism of TfL, frankly.  I think that the RE:FIT scheme is now delivering on the TfL 

estate, and we are making progress.  The biodiesel project, when it comes to buses, sometimes is criticised, in 

my view unfairly, but it is a conservative organisation which never wants to change routes, etc.  Again, I would 

like to give my thanks to the director of buses and his colleagues in really driving forward some of these 

programmes: electric buses, the Zero Emission Urban Bus System, the first double-decker fuelled electrically, 

which will be running sometime in the spring, and the biodiesel project.  It shows that they are making that 

progress and trying to reduce CO2 per kilometre travelled. 

 

When it comes to the London Underground, you will see in its business plan we have put in targets, which TfL 

we hope will meet, that a proportion of their power supply is to be taken from local low-carbon sources.  That 

is a very exciting step.  We have a series of targets over the next few years, I think up to 2020, subject of 

course to commercial deals ensuring that the fare-payers are not paying more than they would otherwise do 

under Crown Commercial agreements.  That shows you that we are using our purchasing power to move 

Page 18



 

 

markets, which is exactly what you should be doing as a public authority.  In fairness, I think we have seen the 

sort of action you would hope to get from a functional body. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  I am glad you mentioned the purchasing power of TfL.  They spend 

about £150 million on their own energy needs.  The nearest equivalent is Thames Water, which spends about 

£100 million.  I am pretty clear in my mind that they are doing substantially more on renewable energy 

initiatives than TfL has done so far, yet TfL has the scope to do quite a bit more if it wants to.  I just wondered 

if you think there is scope that a future Mayor could get TfL to do things that it has not so far done. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  If you look at the targets in the TfL 

business plan, they are ambitious and they are reliant on a decent commercial deal, we hope through the 

Licence Lite programme, when that comes on stream.  Equally, perhaps there are some other large-scale power 

generators here in London for some of the high-voltage demand.  If you look at those figures - and I do not 

recall exactly what they are - they are, I think, ambitious, and it did take some negotiation with the transit 

authority to accept them.  It shows that they want to make this progress.  Again, you have heard the main 

candidates - certainly the Conservative one, and I am sure the Labour one as well - talking about this, using 

the transit authority to move the market and help to have a more low-carbon energy supply, powered 

particularly here in London. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  Matthew, I understand why you want to move on to the future 

mayors.  James, do you think that there was more -- 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  Just on that, we will note as well, in terms of the mayoral contest - we are not 

going to have a big argument about it - but the two front-running candidates do not operate in a complete 

political vacuum.  What other candidates - Caroline Pidgeon [AM, Liberal Democrat mayoral candidate] and 

Siân Berry [Green Party mayoral candidate] - say on this and many other issues does feed into the overall 

debate.  Anyway, let us not spend all our time talking about the mayoral contest. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  Indeed.  James, what is your impression?  There is the Mayor, but 

there is also the whole structure.  We have £17 billion worth of budgets.  We have big players like TfL and the 

MPS.  What has been your perspective on what they have been doing on energy and carbon reduction? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  I would very much come back to my opening comments 

in that there has undoubtedly been progress.  We have seen some encouraging trials.  However, again, there is 

a degree of incrementalism here and quite small-scale pilots.  The other thing to remember is to look around 

the world and see where we sit in line with other cities, and there is no doubt that we are in probably the top 

tier, doing very well on a lot of fronts.  However, you are starting to see some cities looking at all-electric bus 

fleets.  You are starting to see larger-scale investment in hydrogen than we have.  Some of our trials in those 

areas feel a little bit small.  Around the country you are starting to see some police forces use electric vehicles 

(EVs), obviously not necessarily for their rapid-response vehicles, but you have a large fleet there of cars that 

are used for more controlled tasks.  EVs do bring down fuel costs.  They are now pretty much cost-effective, 

and in fact, for a vehicle doing a lot of mileage, it can be more cost-effective for the taxpayer, yet you are not 

seeing the MPS with many announcements of EVs.  You are not seeing much in the way of electric buses, 

although I understand the pilots are ongoing.   

 

It feels like we have been a little bit slow in some of those areas, and again there is a necessity for more 

ambition.  If we are going to deliver the scale of emissions reductions that are required and, of course, if we are 

going to deal with the air pollution crisis as well, it needs to be done at bigger scale than currently.  I accept 

Page 19



 

 

that is very difficult and I accept that probably requires more upfront funding than has been available, but if 

this is a top priority and this is seen as an absolute necessity, then it needs to be found from somewhere. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  James, thank you for the international comparison, but as far as I have 

seen in the Siemens index and things like this, we are still mid-table drifters - like my own football team at the 

moment!  The important thing is that the leadership is being given by people like Copenhagen which are in 

scale quite different from us.  When the Mayor went there in 2009, it seems he had the right intention about 

making London the EV capital of Europe.  However, that was fundamentally undermined by not delivering on 

any of those targets in any conceivable way, whether it be ownership of EVs, plug-in points and the rest of the 

infrastructure you would need to make that viable in the London context. 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  There is absolutely the opportunity to do a huge 

amount more.  One of the most encouraging things about the election campaign has been that all of the 

candidates do seem to be fully committed to a step-change and being even more ambitious on a lot of these 

measures.  Electric cars are a prime example.  The car club potential there is huge.  We have seen car clubs 

come in and really transform car ownership in parts of London.  They really are a very encouraging 

development.  However, there should have been more pressure to say, “Electric cars are now viable.  They need 

to be a larger part of your fleet.  If you want the car bays and if you want the special parking spots, there 

needs to be more ambition on this front”.  I know a lot of them are now starting to do that but we always have 

to come back to this pace issue and the scale of the transformation that is actually required.  You are right, 

cities like Copenhagen do seem to comprehend that, although, of course, it is a lot easier when it is a smaller 

city. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  It is small, yes.  I take that point. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  As a city we have carbon targets that have been in place for some while.  Arguably we 

are not quite on track to meet the reductions that we set as targets.  However, are those targets themselves 

ambitious enough in light of the Paris summit and the accelerating global warning that we hear about?  Ought 

we be ‘upping’, if you like, the challenge further?  Do you think the next Mayor, Matthew, should set more 

challenging targets on carbon reduction, or merely up his or her efforts to meet the existing targets? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I would say the current targets were 

ambitious when they were written in 2008.  The population increase obviously makes it more challenging.  You 

want to set yourself challenging targets.  You do not want it to be too easy.  You do not want to write a target 

that you know you are going to catch without breaking a sweat, but I would argue there is no point in setting 

yourself up to fail.   

 

If I were the incoming Mayor I would suggest the current targets are fit for purpose and set you a pretty 

challenging framework.  A lot of things have just been said by James and colleagues here that I do not think 

are particularly fair about what we have been delivering here.  You can go into lots of detail but when it comes 

to the scale of things that are about to happen very soon it is going to be pretty fundamental.  There will be 

the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ), which we are going to come to a second, but it is again driving the 

market when it comes to zero-emission buses.  We are saying that by 2020 all single-decks have to be zero-

emission.  That is quite a big statement.  It does mean we are going to have full route conversions coming this 

summer for some of the single-decker buses. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  The question is carbon emission targets, though. 

 

Page 20



 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  They have a huge carbon benefit.  As 

the grid is decarbonised, and it is decarbonising now pretty rapidly -- 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  The question is, should the overall target be reassessed? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I have answered that. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Your view is not? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  In my view the current targets are 

very challenging.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  The next Mayor should focus on trying to meet the current targets? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Setting yourself up to fail is not the 

political advice I would give to whomever the new Mayor is. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  OK, thank you.  James, what is your perspective on this?  Do you think the current 

targets are challenging enough? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  I would both agree and disagree.  They are challenging.  

There is no doubt they are challenging.  It is tempting when you write about this stuff every day to get a little 

bit glib about it and think, “Of course, that is possible”.  This is the most fundamental industrial revolution - 

hitting a moving target - we have ever attempted in a timescale that is faster than anything we have ever 

attempted.  You try not to be too glib about it, but then at the same time I am a climate hawk.  The companies 

I write for are providing these solutions and want to build these markets.  I would argue there is a strong 

economic and certainly ethical case, as one of the richest cities in the world in one of the richest countries in 

the world, to be more ambitious.  There are growing business groups across Europe who are asking the 

European Commission to set a bolder target than the 40% goal it is going for by 2030.   

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  A lot weaker than ours. 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  Yes, currently.  That is why they are asking them to go 

to 50%.  There is a strong case looking at the climate science - and the fact that the Paris Agreement provides 

well below 2 degrees and 1.5 - that we should be looking for more ambitious targets under the Climate Change 

Act across the UK as a whole.  If we were to do that then there would be a strong case for the fact cities are 

going to have to decarbonise faster than other parts of the economy, and for London to go for something 

bolder as well.  I do also completely accept Matthew’s point that that would be incredibly challenging.   

 

It is also how you see them politically.  Some of the things about these targets are how they are treated as a 

goal.  Are they a floor or a ceiling on your ambition?  This is always the risk with them.  Some people set a 

target and say, “You know what, we are going too fast”.  That has been the current Government’s position on 

renewable energy deployment or on emission reductions in some budgets.  They have almost gone, “We are 

going too fast.  Quick, let us slow this down” which is an absolutely perverse position when you actually look 

at what we are trying to achieve in terms of the climate change context.  Others - and we have seen this in the 

United States (US) and in the European Union (EU) with the 2020 target - set a target which has helped drive 

investment to such a level that they are going to overshoot those targets quite comfortably.  It very much 

depends on the political goal and the political ambition of the next Mayor.  Do they stick with the current 

targets and say, “Do you know what, that really is a floor to build on.  That is the bare minimum that we are 

Page 21



 

 

going to go.  We are going to aim for something a lot higher”?  Or do they need their feet held to the fire to 

be more ambitious and, therefore, need a higher target?  We have seen around the world different approaches 

to that question.  You might say it depends on the plan that they wish to come forward with. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  My final follow-up to whether the targets are challenging enough or not - and we have 

got two different views there - is what more should the next Mayor do to get us back on the trajectory of the 

existing targets, or to go beyond the trajectory of the existing targets?  At the moment, despite what has been 

done, we are still not on the trajectory of the existing targets.  What more should the next Mayor do to get us 

there?  James, do you want to start off? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  Yes, there are a few things they can do, one of which, 

unfortunately, they do not have direct control over.  It is to put more pressure on the Government, to use that 

position as one of the most visible politicians in the UK to say, “Hang on, I cannot hit my targets if you do not 

come up with a really credible plan for the Fourth and Fifth Carbon Budget.  I am not going to let my city miss 

its targets because certain people in Government are messing around with slightly short-term political 

concerns”.  There is a strong case for the next Mayor to be even more aggressive with the current Government 

and actually make that point, “I cannot hit my targets unless these targets are hit across the UK as a whole, 

and we need the policy framework that will allow that to happen”.  That is arguably the most important thing 

that the Mayor can do, to use that platform and really apply some political pressure.   

 

It is desperately needed within the Conservative context by the way, in the sense that there needs to be a 

balancing force against all the lobbying that is going on from certain backbenchers within the party for a 

watering down of these targets.  There needs to be some bold political figures on the other side - on the 

centre right and centre left - who are willing to say, “Hang on, we really want to defend them very strongly and 

we want more ambition, not less”.  That is absolutely crucial.   

 

Within the Mayor’s reach itself, Matthew is absolutely right that there is a lot of really encouraging stuff 

coming down the pipeline.  It is delivering on that and delivering on it quickly.  The decarbonisation of the taxi 

fleet and the bus fleet is absolutely critical and that needs to be treated as a top priority.  The challenges we 

have mentioned obviously around microgeneration and retrofitting do seem intractable.  Somebody has to get 

a handle on them and really treat them as an absolute top priority.   

 

The other thing - talking to a lot of the businesses that we write about - is thinking a bit bigger.  I know that 

Zac Goldsmith [MP] mentioned the idea of a zero-waste city and setting a goal as exciting as that.  WSP 

Parsons Brinckerhoff has done a really interesting report on making London all electric, saying it is entirely 

feasible by 2035 to 2040.  We need that kind of really big, bold commitment that would make the front page 

of the Evening Standard so people would understand and then deliver on it and, indeed, beyond it.  It is using 

that platform to drive these kinds of targets. 

 

The final one is - again, the Mayor has been quite good on this but this is something the next Mayor needs to 

be even better on - is really harnessing the excitement of the innovation that is coming through.  There are 

some really, really cool technologies and really exciting young London firms doing some fascinating work.  

There is a real opportunity to own quite early things like smart grids, smart technology, smart fridges and 

energy storage.  If the next Mayor gets two terms, within that eight-year period all this stuff could really 

transform our green infrastructure.  They want to come in and own it early.  They want to nurture and push it 

as much as they can to clear the way for those exciting companies to deliver the technologies that we urgently 

will need. 

 

Page 22



 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Thank you.  Matthew, if you were advising the next Mayor, beyond things that have 

already been announced going forward, what would you be pushing?  Not specifics necessarily, but in what 

areas should the next Mayor be going further and faster? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I will pick up immediately from what 

James said on innovation.  The current Mayor - rightfully in my view - believes that technology is going to be 

one of the major solutions to reducing carbon emissions and sustainability generally.  This administration has 

been trying to lead when it comes to the Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation  area the idea of a 

clean technology cluster centred around Imperial West.  That is the most sustainable district we could have 

here in West London.  Then, of course, you have the biggest industrial estate in Europe next door.  There is 

real potential there of harnessing all these things James just touched on and of things escaping from the 

Imperial Laboratories or other institutions.  They obviously have the Accelerator space.  If they need to get a 

bit bigger than that, they can go perhaps to Park Royal Industrial Estate.  That is something we are trying to 

leave behind for the next Mayor to pick up on.  I am glad James touched on that.  The green economy here in 

London grew all the way through the recession.  While everything else was flat or worse it carried on growing 

at about 4%.  It is now at around 6% or 7%.  The London Sustainable Development Commission  has an 

ambition to get that to around 10%.  That is something I would, if I were advising the next Mayor, recommend 

we push forward with.   

 

I have already touched on retrofitting and I do not think there is much point in going over that.   

 

It is really worth looking at the London Plan standards not just in energy, but also when it comes to sustainable 

drainage.  Is it feasible to demand that all new developments have the first centimetre of rainwater  

attenuated?  I am not a hydrologist so I cannot answer the question, but the question should be put and 

rigorously interrogated.  There should be things like that in the next London Plan so that we can build on what 

the current London Plan has achieved, which is impressive.  Technology costs have come down.  We 

understand more.  We know more.  That would suggest to me the ratchet could be turned in a way that still 

allows development of high quality buildings at the scale that London needs.  The last thing we need, mindful 

of the population increase, is constant battles over viability tests and that kind of thing when it goes through 

planning.  You need to get the right balance.  However, there is a potential - because of changes in technology 

and the fact costs have come down - to turn the ratchet and get more sustainable buildings out of the system.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Can I just ask both of you whether you think the Mayor has worked closely enough with 

enlightened business?  In the end it is industry that is going to deliver some climate change targets.  You have 

talked about the leadership that we need to show.  I was just recalling that the last Mayor, 

Ken Livingstone [former Mayor of London], set up in 2005 a shadow climate change agency.  In 2006 it 

became a reality.  It was chaired by the Mayor and it appointed eight engineers who worked very closely with 

the private sector on demonstration projects, like pushing LED lighting and like pushing anaerobic digestion.  

You have to remember we are talking about 2005/6.  All this was startlingly new.  It also made sure that 

renewable energy and decentralised energy was actually in the briefs of most of the regeneration projects.  I 

could go on.  It set up the Better Buildings Partnership which was working with the commercial sector.  It set 

up the forerunner of both RE:NEW and RE:FIT, worked on the able-to-pay sector for domestic buildings and so 

on.  I could go on with all this.  In 2008/9 it fought for its life and it was closed down by the Mayor, whose 

spokespeople said it was too risky.  Yet everything it was talking about was mainstreamed and is now in the 

London Plan.  It gave huge leadership to the private sector.   

 

Do you think this Mayor has done as much for the private sector?  What has he done?  What could the next 

Mayor do? 

 

Page 23



 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  I suspect Matthew and I will probably disagree on this 

one again.  Amongst our readers, who are primarily green businesses, green entrepreneurs and green investors, 

it is fair to say that over the last five to eight years they do not feel particularly well-loved by the political 

establishment and the political class.  This is not just related to the Mayor.  This is related to the Westminster 

Government as well.  They have been messed around inordinately.  They were told they were integral to the 

future of the UK’s infrastructure, to the future of the UK’s competitiveness, and the future of the battle 

against climate change.  There was this “vote blue, go green” sense.  The previous Labour Government talked 

about the importance of infrastructure and national industrial policy.  There was quite a lot of love showered 

on them and a lot of them feel the tap was turned off.   

 

That is slightly unfair because the situation is patchy.  There have been some really good innovation funding 

programmes.  There is no doubt that renewable deployment has increased rapidly.  There has been a lot of 

subsidy in a lot of areas.  I appreciate this is more general; I will get to the Mayor specifically in a second.  

There has been a lot of good stuff.  However, while the general sense was given of how crucially important 

these technologies and businesses are, they do not feel like they get the credit, access and attention they 

deserve from political leaders, and the media as well. At BusinessGreen we will write a story about a £1 billion 

plus investment in an offshore wind farm or a multi-hundred-million-dollar investment in an 

energy-from-waste plant, and you think if that was an aerospace deal or a pharmaceutical deal it would be on 

the front page of the Financial Times.  Because it is clean technology, it does not seem to get that cut 

through.   

 

All of that criticism would stand, to a degree, over the London approach as a well.  There has not been the 

focus that you get in some cities of politicians fully nurturing a cluster, organising trade missions specifically 

for the sector as much as they should have done, pushing forward the best companies and making sure they 

are promoted.  Really saying to them, “What can I do to make you a success and a British exporter?” and 

turning London into that cluster.  They feel like they have some support.  However, I don’t think that anyone 

really feels like it has been a top priority for the Mayor when it should have been, given the scale of the climate 

challenge and the scale of the clean technology opportunity. 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Let us get a quick response from Matthew on this as well.   

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  We will disagree on this, I am sure! 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Somewhat inevitably, I will disagree 

with Nicky [Gavron AM] on the premise of the question and with James.   

 

Where I half agree with James is with regard to the current Government’s constant changing of policies, 

subsidies and incentives.  I mentioned ECO.  It is worth mentioning the FIT as well.  It has not had the outcome 

we were told it would.  However, it is not reasonable to give people no notice that six months out the FIT is 

going to go down by around 90%.  Business plans have long been planned.  It did mean distressed companies 

went to the wall.  They may have gone otherwise, no matter what had happened, but it certainly accelerated 

that.  That is not reasonable.  That is what the Mayor and I said to the Government about that.  Therefore, I 

half agree with that. 

 

It is not fair to say the Government, or the Mayor, have left them in the lurch in quite the way you talk about.  

There are all these catapults.  There is the Future Cities Catapult and the Digital Catapult etc that we are seeing 

being set up by the coalition Government and then continued to be nurtured by the current Conservative 

Government.  That is not a fair comment. 

 

Page 24



 

 

When it comes to the Mayor, we have celebrated our green industries in a way that arguably the Government 

has not done.  When we release our low-carbon economy snapshot we make quite a bit thing of it.  We did 

that back in 2013 or 2014.  I do remember Guardian journalists saying, “Why are you making a big deal of this?  

The Government never does”.  I said, “You will have to ask the Government that”.  We certainly are proud of 

that.  I mentioned the clean technology cluster we nurtured earlier.   

 

When it comes to institutions, you do not need an institution to drive forward policy.  It is mainstream within 

the London Plan.  It is mainstream across everything you do.  Think of the London Infrastructure Plan 

particularly and how much of the sustainability part is utterly mainstream across that document.  That is a key 

part of how on earth London is going to accommodate this growing population.  You do not need a London 

Climate Change Agency with highly paid officials and a secretariat to do that.  The former Mayor’s history of 

these bodies is not a great one when you think about the state the London Development Agency was in when 

this administration came in. 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Let us move on to air pollution. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  Why do Londoners look set to be breathing illegal levels of nitrogen 

dioxide (NO2) until 2025 still?  How can the next Mayor achieve NO2 compliance by the end of their first term? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  This must be the twelfth time we 

have been around this issue.  I do not know how much detail you really want me to go into. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  Let us put the perspective forward, rather than back. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I have to go back 18 months for a 

second, when you and I were talking in the Mansion House at the launch of the Mayor’s Air Quality Manifesto.  

We felt we could, with the right support from Government, get within the legal limits by 2020.  Through the 

actions of the Mayor and the London boroughs - and working with London boroughs is very important in this - 

we felt we could get two-thirds or three-quarters of the way to compliance.  We do not need to go on about 

dieselisation and failure standards and the rest of it of why the NO2 challenge is so great.  The fact that 

London’s government which does not have the biggest levers - and I mentioned fiscal earlier - to really drive 

the cleaner vehicles that we need suggests we are doing a lot here.  We do need Government support and EU 

support to do that final third quarter or so by 2020.  That is the diesel scrappage scheme.  Some of that is 

genuine reformed VED in a way which nudges people to drive cleaner vehicles.  The EU that has agreed a 

voluntary agreement (VA) real driving emissions (RDE) package that we think is disappointing.  One bit of the 

Commission is saying it is enforcing the Treaty and will start infraction proceedings against the UK and, in due 

course, other member states because of air pollution.  Another bit of the Commission ties our hands behind our 

back and does not put forward a RDE package that we think car manufacturers can do.  That suggests some 

kind of incoherence within the Commission’s thinking in regard to trying to tie that up properly.   

 

When it comes to what we are doing here in London - and I also talk about London boroughs in that - we have 

made great progress.  Clearly we need help when it comes to some of the other levers from other parts of 

Government. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  I do note TfL has a working group of London Councils Transport and 

Environment Committee (TEC) under Councillor Julian Bell [Leader, Ealing Council] working on this front.  Let 

us welcome that.   

 

Page 25



 

 

James, how do the businesses that you represent essentially through your magazine feel about these issues 

and where they are going with air pollution at the moment? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  It is still quite new for a lot of businesses in a way.  If 

you are looking at a typical corporate, the focus through their sustainability agenda has largely been on climate 

change, and to a lesser degree water and energy efficiency.  Air has - it feels sudden in a way - been pushed 

up the agenda in the last couple of years when there has been this massive realisation of how bad the health 

crisis is.  It shocked a lot of people.  The corporate response to an environmental challenge, as we have seen 

with climate change, is quite often to take two, three, four or sometimes even five years to think about it and 

then come up with something really quite bold and aggressive.  We have seen that over the last ten years with 

the response to climate change from business.  There was this assessment period, then there was, “OK, let us 

trial a few things” and then in the last couple of years, particularly around Paris, we have seen a very bold 

response.   

 

Air obviously overlaps with climate change when you look at EVs and a lot of other areas.  I doubt you would 

find many businesses that have an air strategy or an air risk reduction programme.  We will start to see that.  

We will start to see more businesses saying to their staff, “How are you getting to work?  What can we do 

here?”  We will start to see company car fleets from more progressive businesses start to shift and say, “We are 

going to rule out these diesels.  That is not appropriate.  We are going to incentivise an electric or plug-in 

hybrid”.  We are starting to see a little bit of that.  There are certainly not many businesses that are leading 

strongly on this.   

 

Where we are seeing exciting development is in those clean technology suppliers.  The electric car and greener 

vehicle sector has realised there is a real opportunity here.  They have realised that the damage Volkswagen  

has done to its brand - with the shenanigans that were going on there - leaves a door open for the likes of 

Tesla, Nissan and the others.  We are starting to see exponential growth in EV demand, from a low base 

obviously.  We will see a lot more of that kind of innovation coming forward as a potential solution.  It will not 

just be innovation in electric cars, although electric cars dominate.   

 

There was an Environmental Industries Commission report I would recommend to everyone which actually 

looked at what can be done to meet these targets within a five- to ten-year timeframe because, obviously, we 

are not going to electrify the entire vehicle fleet in that time.  It said there are other technologies that could be 

used around more efficient cars, and around looking at pollution control measures which is something that has 

been tapped into a little bit but could be taken a lot further.  Also how to look around smart technology so we 

actually get a better warning system so, if we cannot get rid of this problem overnight, maybe we should have 

a better way of saying to vulnerable people and schools, “Today is a really bad day.  Is there anything you can 

do?”  I know that is politically controversial, but when you are thinking about people’s health there has to be a 

case for starting to do that.  We are seeing some other cities start to do it.   

 

In terms of whether there is a coherent business position, there is not yet but it will come. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  Presumably there is scope for our future Mayor to do something in 

conjunction with business.  At least business will be keen to look at the health of its employees. 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  There absolutely is.  There is the health angle for people 

in commuting.  You are going to see that a lot of the clean technology companies will be desperate to work 

with the next Mayor.  The car clubs will be desperate to work with the next Mayor because they see themselves 

as part of the solution, and technology sees themselves as part of the solution.  We have also got to look at 

public transport within this.  Obviously Crossrail is the big, glamorous project.  However, we also have got to 

Page 26



 

 

look at other public transport options such the Bakerloo line extension and other projects which we have to 

make more attractive to get the extra capacity there because the city is growing so quickly, as Matthew says.   

 

The final and crunch one - which I am sure whoever is the next Mayor is going to want to kick it into the long 

grass in much the same way the current Mayor has - is that there comes a point at which do you have to look 

at road pricing and do you have to look at road rationing.  Other cities are responding to the air pollution crisis 

by doing this.  We have seen the trials of odd number, even number and number plates being banned.  I am 

not sure that is the right way.  Other cities are responding to the pollution crisis in that manner.  If it does not 

get any better, and we cannot get to the standards without something new, then people are going to have to 

start to think about those more controversial measures. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  You are right to come that.  The present congestion scheme only deals 

with congestion in a very particular bit of town, does not even deal with it there, and does not deal with 

congestion in the suburbs certainly. 

 

Before I move on, the most unfortunate revelation during this past term is not something the Mayor did.  

Those who pushed reduction of CO2 emissions at the turn of the century did not really come clean about the 

trade-offs that would have on localised pollution.  I am not convinced we have had people admitting enough 

about the detrimental effect it had in encouraging people into diesel cars.  People did quite clearly know that 

would be the case if you pushed CO2 emissions at the expense of the more local emissions that we are dealing 

with under this topic.  I am not putting that out as something to comment on; it is just an observation.    

 

Can we just move to the ULEZ?  Matthew, you have done a lot of work on that.  How can the future Mayor 

expand it and bring it forward?  Effectively the Mayor has kicked it on for this term and into the subsequent 

term. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I know we have been over this lots of 

times but it is worth saying that nobody in the world has tried what the Mayor has proposed and is now a 

Scheme Order.  In 2020, if you have a vehicle, it as to be at least a Euro 6 diesel or a Euro 4 petrol.   

 

Euro 6 diesel vans are not yet on the forecourts.  I was at a London Hydrogen Partnership lunch earlier today.  

They said they still do not have a Euro 6 diesel van.  It is worth reminding the Committee that there is no zero 

emission van at scale yet which is economic for your normal business.  There are obviously some people who 

can do it for a variety of reasons but the market is not yet there.  What we are saying is that in four and a half 

years in central London, if you are van user, your vehicle is likely to be less than four years old.  That is a very, 

very Draconian step indeed.  I will watch with great amusement I have to say - after all the conversations I have 

been having with you over the last four years - the run-up to the election in 2020.  Then lots of people will 

have realised - they have not necessarily realised yet because they have been running their businesses and are 

too busy to hear all the communications - that their van which is five years old will cost them £12.50 every day 

to drive into central London.  I think that is a price worth paying.  The Mayor thinks that is a price worth 

paying.  I am going to watch with great amusement the political pain of whoever the Mayor is when fighting 

for re-election.  They are going to have a lot of angry van drivers realising that their van, which is only five or 

six years old, is suddenly going to have to be replaced or they will have to pay some charge.  A call to bring the 

ULEZ forward is, in my view, an unreasonable thing to do.  What you are then saying is, “Your van has to be 18 

months told, a year old, six months old”.  This is not a reasonable thing to ask businesses or, for that matter, 

residents. 

 

When it comes to expanding it, I am glad that TfL and London Councils are clearly having that conversation in 

preparation for, I assume, both candidates promising to consult and in due course expand the ULEZ.  They 

Page 27



 

 

should do that but in a reasonable timeframe.  I would say 2020 to North and South Circular is utterly 

unreasonable, capturing huge amounts of suburban London and all the vehicle movements that involves and, 

again, asking people to have a van which is less than four year old.  Come 2023, 2024 or 2022, depending how 

ambitious you want to be and depending how the market goes forward, that is a reasonable thing to do.  If I 

were advising the next Mayor, that is what I would do.  I would begin the conversation, once the team is 

settled down, about where to expand it to and in what timeframe.  Bringing it forward would be an utterly 

unreasonable thing to do when it comes to what that means to particularly white van users.  There is no other 

technology, at a cost which is reasonable, at the moment.  If you bring it forward to 2018, which is only two 

years away, you are asking for somebody’s van to be less than two years old and that is a big ask. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  James, do you have ‘white van men’ knocking on your door asking you 

to defend them before this is brought forward by a future Mayor?  What is the view of business about 

expanding the boundaries beyond the congestion charge? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  I would pick up on and agree with what Matthew was 

saying about awareness.  There will be a complete lack of awareness.  The Mayor maybe has to take a little bit 

of blame for that.  Maybe it has to be talked about more, more loudly and with more money spent on 

promoting it and making people understand what is going to be happen.  There will be a fundamental 

awareness challenge that these drivers will not be aware, it will be hell of a shock and there will be -- 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  There was no lack of awareness ahead of the congestion charge being 

originally introduced in 2003.  At the time that was a very, very significant step-change for London, was it not? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  Absolutely, so it can be done.  However, it almost needs 

to be being done now.  As soon as the vehicles are available for sale it needs to be done aggressively and 

frequently to make it as fair as possible, to let businesses know this upgrade becomes even more financially 

attractive because this charge is going to be in place.  There needs to be a really strong communications 

campaign and it needs to happen as soon as the vehicles are available.   

 

The one thing I would add is that while there are probably not that many ‘white van men’ in our readership 

there are a lot of corporates who are very serious about looking at Nissan’s new electric van.  We are going to 

see more plug-in hybrid vans coming forward.  The technology will get there and there will be a lot of 

pioneering businesses.  You already see in London, particularly in central London, the electric vans coming 

through and people using them.  The technology will emerge very quickly.  There will be pioneering businesses 

that will embrace it.  There will be champions who will be willing to promote this stuff.  More broadly, for your 

stereotypical ‘white van man’, there has to be that communication. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  Whilst you emphasise ‘white van man’, do not forget all the other 

Londoners are affected by it and I am sure they will be willing to buy into it.   

 

Where I think progress has been made is TfL, by working with London Councils, has got off the fence of just 

sticking to the proposal around the congestion charge in the barracks.  When people in Brixton and Putney 

High Street are complaining about air pollution as much as in the North Circular and South Circular, it would be 

ludicrous not to hit those areas as much as those in the very centre of town.   

 

Can I now move on to the next area of questioning on air pollution?  Hybrid technology has been proven 

capable of making the changes that we need.  In hindsight, could we have done things differently to bring the 

fleet in TfL into it much more quickly, Matthew? 

 

Page 28



 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The rapid deployment of hybrid buses 

now is pretty astonishing.  I think it will be 1,700 completed by the end of the administration.  We are seeing 

full route conversions very, very quickly.  Again, the ULEZ is helping to drive that.  Any bus routes through 

central London are now going to be by Euro VI hybrid bus.  It is worth noting that we have found it quite 

difficult to get their capital cost down in a way that means they become a ‘slam-dunk’ investment decision by 

the leasing companies or the bus operating companies etc.  There is something called the Clean Bus 

Declaration - which you may or may not be aware of - which is London working with around 20 international 

cities saying, “There is a market here to 2020 where there are going to be tens of thousands of hybrid drive 

trains that we want”.  It has resulted in bringing the cost down by about 10% which shows scale of the 

leadership - and some of the stuff James has been talking - that London has shown with other cities when it 

comes to wanting to green and clean up their public transit fleets.   

 

To say it should have been quicker, there is no magic money tree.  This stuff all costs money.  There is 

understandable disquiet about fare rises and the rest of it.  It does not get ‘magicked’ up.  We have deployed 

them at a pretty rapid scale and it has not been cheap.  It has cost Londoners a great deal of money to do this.  

The cost, I am very glad to say, is coming down, partly because they have become a more proven technology 

and these drive trains now have residual value.  Equally, some of the leadership London has shown with other 

cities has helped to do that too.   

 

From a base of almost zero we have done a huge deployment of electric hybrids.  That will clearly continue.  I 

am sure that, again pointing forward, all the candidates will be making some kind of promises of all new buses 

being the cleanest they can be.   

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  You say about the cost.  There is no doubt they are more expensive.  

However, they are cheaper than the new Routemaster.  I understand one of the last things TfL are doing at this 

moment - which was covered by [the Assembly’s] Budget and Performance [Committee] - is ordering those 

buses more so than the hybrid buses.  Would it not have been a more useful legacy for reductions in local air 

pollution to have gone further down the hybrid route than the new Routemaster? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The new Routemasters are the 

cleanest bus of their class.  They are cleaner than the normal Euro VI diesel-electric hybrid, the Euro VI coming 

out of Northern Ireland. 

 

It is worth noting that the Mayor stood very clearly on a manifesto commitment to bring these buses in.  It 

would be bit of a betrayal of the electorate to say, “I am going to can the programme because it came into 

political heavy weather from some elected politicians and things”.  Delivering promises is what the Mayor has 

done.  Incidentally, they have left a design icon for this city in the same way that the original Routemaster has 

done.  It has been a great message to the world and to London that we have the cleanest bus of its class 

driving around in the numbers that they are. 

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  James, how does business see the progress we have made on this 

front? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  I am not sure it is a massive focus area.  There obviously 

has been investment.  The transition has been clear and it has been being made.   

 

Again, I would come back to my point that the companies providing these clean technologies would have loved 

to have seen larger-scale earlier trials of the hydrogen and electric versions.  As a personal view, if you are 

looking for a legacy with the Routemaster, which is iconic, which does go around the world and is a beautiful 

Page 29



 

 

image, given the scale of the climate change challenge, which we knew about eight years ago, an electric or 

hydrogen Routemaster would have been a legacy.  That would have been transformational.  That would have 

been something that would have gone around the world.  There was an opportunity there.  Real ‘pedal to the 

metal’ progress on those fronts was what was needed.   

 

However, I do agree with Matthew that there does seem to have been a real transformation of the fleet.  It 

does seem to be progressing and it will continue to.  It is an area in which there has been some encouraging 

progress.  It is that step-change challenge yet again.   

 

Murad Qureshi AM (Deputy Chair):  It has been a long time since I have heard a Londoner ask about 

Routemasters.  I will look out for it during this campaign.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  I had a number of issues.  Matthew said earlier that the first trial of the fully electric 

double-decker bus was going to happen -- 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I believe it is this spring; it has been 

delayed from autumn. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It was announced last summer that it was going to happen in October and we are now 

in March. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It had delays in type approval 

through the Department for Transport. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Delays that presumably were not foreseen last summer. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We all know these things happen. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It will happen at some point in the next few months? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I believe so, in the spring. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  When you say spring, we are almost in spring. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  When is the first day of spring?  Is it 

April through to June? 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  June would normally count as summer in most people’s books. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Spring break is the end of May into 

the beginning of June. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  By the end of June is the current timetable? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Let us say that.  That is a fair 

compromise, Stephen. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  That is fair enough.  You raised the point earlier about vans being a particular problem 

because there are no alternatives to diesel essentially for the van market.  Is it not possible to design a low-

Page 30



 

 

emission zone which treats differentially vehicles where there is not an alternative to diesel from vehicles where 

clearly there are alternatives to diesel, like private cars for instance? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I would say a similar point can be 

made about private cars.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  You cannot say about private cars that there is no alternative to diesel.  Clearly you 

cannot say that, can you? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Let me just answer the question.  The 

point I made about the vans can go across all vehicles.  Certainly, when it comes to big heavy vehicles, those 

are generally run by big commercial fleets and they are well within their purchasing power and their investment 

plans to buy the cleaner vehicle or lease the cleaner vehicles soon in London.  There is a focus on vans.  It is 

just because it is the best example because there is no other technology.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  I agree, but I would argue with you is it is possible.  For instance, one could introduce 

controls for private cars from 2018 and vans from 2020.  You could have a differential approach to 

implementation and different types of -- 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Legally speaking, I am sure that is 

possible.  The first thing I would say, Stephen, is it is incredibly complicated and this is already a very 

complicated scheme.  Do you want to make it more complicated?  I would say no.   

 

The second point I would make is you are still saying to someone who was told just two or three years ago, 

“Buy this Euro 5 Audi diesel” - with a ‘cheat’ device, although they probably would not advertise it with a 

cheat device - “because it is great for carbon.  The VED is fantastic, etc”.  Suddenly they have spun on the 

sixpence in the last 18 months - arguably because of the Mayor’s leadership, I would say, by the way, when it 

comes to talking about diesel - and somebody is on a purchase plan.  These are big investments.  These are 

families who have bought a car believing it to be the right thing and now you are saying, “Sorry, mate” but -- 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  I am going to take this as a clarifying discussion on the details of the ULEZ, 

but in terms of the wider agenda-setting picture in terms of zero emissions I want Jennette to put her 

question. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Stephen [Knight AM] has touched on it, but I was not clear what Matthew’s 

response was.  Let me put it this way, Matthew.  In terms of your position, how satisfied are you with the 

progress of zero-emission vehicles in London’s private car market?   

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I forget which colleague touched on 

the targets that the Mayor originally talked about early on in his administration in the first term.  Was it you, 

Murad [Qureshi AM]?  I would say any reasonable person would say clearly we have not had the penetration in 

EVs or, for that matter, hydrogen vehicles, that we may have wanted when we talked about that six or seven 

years ago.  Having said that, it is a chicken and egg issue here with the infrastructure and the vehicles.  We 

have come into criticism by some colleagues that we have 1,300 charge points across London, and why do we 

not include those privately run ones?  The utilisation rates are relatively low because the vehicles were not 

coming forward.  Now we have the infrastructure in there so range anxiety should not be a serious problem 

here in London.  As I think James said, we are seeing the beginning of having a game changer when it comes 

to these vehicles.  I think it goes down to when I helped to launch the BMW i3  vehicle over at the 

Page 31



 

 

fishmonger’s place across the river, Old Billingsgate, and it showed you a premium car maker making a vehicle 

that looked sexy, is a beautiful vehicle.  It is not the early adopter, G-Wiz  [REVAi]-type vehicle.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Who is going to buy it?  Who is going to buy a BMW car? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  You are seeing that coming through 

now.  James touched on that.  Yes, we are behind perhaps where we wanted to be, but the market did not 

deliver the vehicles at the cost price point and there were issues to do with family vehicles and range anxiety 

and I feel we have overcome quite a lot of that.  The cost of technology is coming down.  I feel that, yes, it is 

slower than we would want but we are making pretty decent progress now.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  The private car market is about the family vehicle, is it not?  You just talked 

about BMW.  What sort of share does BMW have in the London private car market?  I would have thought it 

was minimal.   

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Well I see a lot of BMWs driving 

around.  I was using BMW as an example of how the market is changing from that early adopter to a wider one.  

I will quote the Renault ZOE, clearly a less premium brand, a less premium car maker.  I recall very clearly one 

of the first decisions I recommended to the Mayor as his Environment Advisor after the 2012 election.  It was a 

recommendation to tighten the congestion charge exemptions down to 50 grams per kilometre.  I was very 

excited to see the Renault ZOE advertised because it would make the congestion charge exemption.  I thought 

that was exactly what it is trying to do; it is trying to push the market, trying to drive the market, to use 

advertising to sell more of those vehicles.  I used the BMW because it was an example of a premium car maker 

making these vehicles sexy and attractive to that part of the market, but equally things like the Renault ZOE or 

some of the pure electric other vehicles attract other bits of the market, or the Tesla if you are really rich.  It 

shows you that it is penetrating all the different layers of it.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  James, I did read your article that you sent, it was an interesting article, but I 

cannot recall whether you had anything to say about zero-emission vehicles, particularly in the private car 

market.   

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  I do not think I touched on it as much as I possibly 

could have done.  There are so many areas that you can cover.  I would agree with Matthew; it has not gone as 

fast as we would have hoped.  I think we will start to see it begin to penetrate more.  The plug-in hybrid 

technology is hugely potentially important for families in that it deals with that range anxiety and still brings 

down emissions massively and it is cheaper to run.  There was a very encouraging report out recently from 

Bloomberg New Energy Finance that said 2022 becomes the point at which it becomes more cost-effective to 

run an electric car, even with that price premium that you have to pay upfront because of the huge savings 

that you get on fuel.  We will reach a tipping point.  This technology is coming.   

 

The one thing I would say with regards to the family car market is that I would love to see the next Mayor 

encourage and what I would love to see more people encourage is the idea of whether ownership is necessary 

for large numbers of families.  We have defaulted to this ownership model, this ownership model is continuing, 

but I think a lot of younger people do not own cars.  None of my peer group own cars.  I am not that young, 

but none of them own cars.  There is nowhere to park them, they are hugely expensive and we are starting to 

see car club and car hire model that makes a lot more sense.  More needs to be done to really encourage that, 

particularly if we can continue to invest in the public transport infrastructure and make it better and more 

attractive and if we can make the car club availability and the car hire more attractive.  I have a young family, 

and the idea of buying a car currently is absolutely anathema.  I have spent probably a fortune on car hire in 

Page 32



 

 

the last year driving to various places, but it is still a lot cheaper than buying and trying to run your own car.  

There is a real case for, yes, encouraging people towards zero-emission vehicles where possible, but also 

constantly asking that question, are you going to be using this car every day?  Are you going to be using this 

car every week?  And if not, do you really need it?   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  My only comment to that is I represent three boroughs and one has the lowest 

car ownership, the highest bicycle owners, Hackney.  Islington is about equal.  Waltham Forest has easily a 

higher ratio of car owners.  Why they have their cars is their poor access to transport.  Before you start asking 

that question or a Mayor starts asking that question, what they would have to do is look at the availability of 

the other transport options.   

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  Absolutely.  I am not saying it right for everyone and 

right everywhere.  It will not be.  However, where it can be encouraged it should be.  

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It is that sort of conversation that takes us away from the main issue, is it not?  

What I would just like to understand, going back to Matthew, in his experience, what is quite clear to anybody 

when they look at the portfolio that you have, there are just so many balls to be kept up in the air, are there 

not?  I am really asking you, if more time had been spent on this, could the mayoralty have encouraged more 

movement in switching to EVs? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I would say that a good example of 

what the Mayor might have done is got much heavier with the boroughs around some of the parking 

regulations.  The Mayor signs them off, and clearly the current Mayor was elected on specifically working with 

boroughs not against the boroughs, if you cast your mind back eight years.  That would be a very serious 

political decision for the Mayor to make to decide to become heavy-handed, particularly when it came to car 

clubs.  One of the reasons why some of the point-to-point car clubs are finding it difficult to penetrate the 

London market is each of them understandably has a value for the parking spaces and it is very difficult to get 

a cross-London system where one - probably chip in a car, or badge or whatever - can go all the way from 

Waltham Forest to Hackney, let alone Waltham Forest to Lambeth or Croydon or whatever.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Absolutely, it is not possible.   

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  That is somewhere where the Mayor 

could have made a political decision to be very robust with the London boroughs.  I can imagine his meetings 

with Mayor Pipe [Jules Pipe CBE, Mayor of Hackney] may not be as convivial as they had been if he had 

decided to go down that path.  That is part of governing a complex city; finding the right balance.  I would say 

we have worked with car clubs and all these point-to-point products and there has been a great expanse to 

them.  

 

When it comes to car ownership I recommend you all watch a very good piece on the BBC News last night.  

After a certain piece to do with certain letters from my boss, at the back end of the 10.00pm news last night 

there was a very interesting piece about getting rid of cars in suburbia.  They called it ‘superbia’.  There was a 

great vox pop of punters in their cars and they were not very impressed with the idea.  It just shows some of 

the cultural changes you would need to try to do that.   

 

You have mentioned it because you are in very geographically differentiated space.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Yes. 

 

Page 33



 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  From Hackney, Islington out to 

Chingford -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Yes, to Chingford.  

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  -- or Essex where it takes quite a 

change.  It might not be that far away.  It is a generational thing in that even people who live in areas where 

there is relatively low public transport provision, once they see the financial savings of that, you can use your 

phone to get a car or you can have that service model rather than a product model.  The same also goes, by 

the way, in fridges and in washing machines and lights and all sorts of things.  You could bring your own costs 

down for the family and have less environmental impact.  That is a long game.  Culture change is a long game.  

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  As you say, they would have to be assured they would not get stranded halfway.  

That is really some work that an incoming Mayor will have to hopefully prioritise.  About the incoming Mayor, 

if I could say to you the frontrunner in the mayoral race: Sadiq Khan.  Even the Evening Standard says so, so it 

must be true.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Must be true.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  The Evening Standard, says so, so it must be true, has today announced that 

making cycling and walking safer, with more segregated cycle routes, action on dangerous junctions and safer 

lorries and that whole area is in his top ten.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Is this appropriate, Chair?  

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It is in his top ten.  

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I would suggest that sounds like 

‘continuity Boris’ [Johnson MP, Mayor of London].  

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  Let us take out the personalities and let us just stick to those issues that 

Jennette was -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Just listen.  Listen.  Just listen.   

 

Steve O’Connell:  If I had suggested that I would get a lot of stick.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Listen to the question.  You would come back and say, would you not, “Well, 

that is what we have been doing”.  From the point of view of my constituents that have some of the most 

dangerous junctions, they would not agree with you, that are still struggling and waiting to get cycle routes 

sorted, they would not think that Boris [Johnson MP] had done much.  What I am really saying to you is do 

you not think it is a shame that you have not been able to make more progress on these areas, especially as 

walking and cycling has been on the increase in terms of Londoners wanting to do those two activities?  

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  You can imagine what my answer is 

going to be and I am sorry, Chair, I am going to break your rule.  It sounds to me that the Labour candidate is 

‘continuity Boris’, which is no bad thing it seems to me.  In fairness, Waltham Forest, one of your boroughs, is 

one of the Mini-Hollands.  There has been some political challenge around that, I suppose, from some 

quarters.  He has pushed that equally in your neighbouring borough in Enfield where I was this morning.  They 

Page 34

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Syed_Kamall


 

 

equally will be having a lot of segregated cycle paths.  In fairness, the current Mayor has driven forward in an 

era of fiscal consolidation and has earmarked almost £1 billion in cycling infrastructure.  Nobody has done that 

before.  We have seen cycling double, as you know.  To say that he has not done very much is a little unfair.  

Have we transformed London into Copenhagen where whatever per cent of the population cycle to work?  No.  

However, London is a city which is 30 miles across and it is not really doable. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Matthew, the records show that this Committee, together with the cycling lobby, 

had to drag your Mayor screaming to this position.  He then got involved so we ended up with money for the 

Mini-Holland scheme.  If you are talking about ‘continuity Boris’, it is a mayoralty responding to the demands 

of Londoners because that is what was the starting point. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Casting my mind back to the 2012 

campaign when there was ‘Go Dutch’ -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  That was London Cycling’s motto and they brought that to the table. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Indeed.  It then became a big issue in 

the election four years ago.  My colleague, Andrew Gilligan [London Cycling Commissioner], has delivered on 

what he said he was going to do, not without some controversy as Londoners who still to try drive around 

central London have discovered.  It is bit of a challenge at the moment which will obviously get better as these 

schemes are completed.   

 

To say that we have not done very much is not particularly fair.  Compared to the previous Mayor who -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Do not go back to prehistory.  We are talking now. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I will say, in fairness, the previous 

Mayor was focused - probably rightfully in hindsight - on a takeaway road space for buses and focusing on bus 

lanes.  The current Mayor has been focused very much on more space for cyclists.  It does show you how much 

road space has been taken away by the two mayors over 16 years to more sustainable forms of transport, 

which has been a good thing from both of them. 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  There was an interview with the Mayor in the Guardian 

yesterday.  He actually picked out cycling separation as his one regret and that he would have liked to have 

gone faster on it.  He said if he had his time again it would have been a first term thing rather than a second 

term thing.  It is worth picking up that he did slightly acknowledge the point of your question, that it could 

have gone faster, but he was very proud of what he had done currently.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Let us wrap this up.  Thank you for coming in there, James, because I was going 

to make that very point.  It seems to me the Mayor is closer to my view about his actions on this matter than 

his advisor.  Chair, I will leave it at that. 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  To wrap up on this, James’s comment was very fair.  There were some clear 

teething problems with the initial round of Cycle Superhighways.  Many of them did have to be replaced 

because the quality was not up to scratch.  However, the Mayor finally has begun to deliver a very good 

programme that we hope will be taken forward into the next administration. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Finally. 

 

Page 35



 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Clearly there is a big desire to roll out EV usage and to promote EV usage.  Is there 

scope to use the London Plan more than we do at the moment to ensure that for all new residential 

developments, whenever there is a parking space provided, it has an electric charging point?  Whenever 

somebody applies for a vehicle crossover to park a car on their property, they need to provide an electric 

charging point.  Could we use planning policy to effectively make electric car use far more widespread? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  In the London Plan there already are 

standards on that, in fact. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It is not true at the moment that every residential car parking space has a charging 

point. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  You do not actually need every 

residential parking space to have [a charging point]. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  If you want every car in 20 years’ time to be plug-in, you do, do you not? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  With rapid charging and the rest of it, 

I am not convinced that is something you need to do.  What you need to do is to have a number.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  If I buy a new house or flat and I have a parking space provided with it which does not 

have a plug-in point, then having an electric car is probably not an option for me.  If it does, it is a very open 

option to me.  When you build the development is the time to put the infrastructure in.  Should it not be part 

of planning policy that it is provided? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Stephen, the point I made is that 

they already are in planning policy. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It is not being done at the moment, is it? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  They will not get planning permission 

unless they are within conformity of the London Plan. 

 

A wider point when it comes to land use planning and transport and something I have only discovered - which 

is worth having on the record so that you as a Committee are aware of it and it is public - is clearly the next 

Mayor is going to have to have a serious look at freight consolidation and working out a way to reduce the 

amount of vehicle movements when it comes to freight.  There is public safety, and there are also emissions 

and congestion [challenges] around that [freight].  Yet the kind of places where you would want to have these 

consolidation centres are very rapidly being lost to new housing development.  That is something I am aware 

of.  When it comes to the new London Plan, without a doubt housing is London’s greatest challenge, but we 

need to be mindful that we do not lose the places where you would want to have a freight consolidation centre 

to have quality of life and try to reduce the congestion etc we have in London when it comes to London Plan 

policy. 

 

When it comes to your question on electric charging points, they are already in there.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Every house that is built with a parking space has to have a charging point in the 

London Plan right now: that is what you are telling me?  Do you think that is true? 

 

Page 36



 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The London Plan is a strategic 

planning document.  When it comes to an individual house it is different.  When it comes to a large-scale 

development - the things that the Mayor sees and where we are talking about X number of units - there is 

then a rule that when parking spaces are delivered a proportion have to have electric charging points.  Would 

every single one of those apartments have a car parking space?  Probably not.  It is a proportion of them.  

 

Stephen Knight AM:  We are going into a future where potentially all vehicles will plug-in, so all these 

parking spaces need to have the plug-in point, do they not? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Stephen, I am not convinced they are 

going to be.  Hydrogen is going to be a competing technology that arguably could be very competitive in an 

area like London because parking is a problem.  Exactly the issue you are talking about makes it difficult; 

especially when it comes to retrofitting all the streets, such as my old street of terraces where I have to live.  

That is where hydrogen has a real opportunity.  It is culturally the same as petrol and diesel.  You go to the 

petrol station and you fill up your car.  In this case you would go to the hydrogen refuelling station, as they 

replaced the petrol station, and fill up your vehicle.  You do not need one at every single parking space across 

all of London. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Of course you do not.   

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Let us bring in Steve O’Connell then.  You are going to look at 

both Heathrow expansion and construction. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Thanks, Chair.  I got bumped from my earlier question so I will make a couple of 

observations.   

 

The beauty of being a constituency [Assembly] Member is you are grounded more in reality than others.  The 

thought that you could persuade people in the outer London boroughs to dispense with their cars in suburbia - 

unless the transport system is radically improved - is complete fantasyland.   

 

I agree with the point about plug-ins.  If there was a development of 20 flats you would have one or two, but 

the thought that at each individual space you would expect a plug-in is clearly ludicrous.   

 

My last point is I get quite riled with the patronising view of ‘white van man’.  These are small business people 

who are expected to go to great expense to change their vehicles.  They are working on small margins.  Often 

we lose sight that there are real people involved in that. 

 

After my rant I shall move on.  I guess no environmental discussion is perfect without something about 

Heathrow expansion.  I do not think you can ever avoid it.  The question is:  how should the [new] Mayor 

respond if, indeed, there is a Government decision early in the term to go ahead with a Heathrow or a Gatwick 

expansion?  If the Government push this beyond, in theory, the mayoral term - June, July onwards - there will 

be a decision.  If it was to be Heathrow what your thoughts be?  What would you advise, Matthew, if you were 

advising a new Mayor? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  This is a subject we have gone over a 

few times before.  When it comes to the areas I am concerned about, and in particular air pollution, I do not 

see how it is remotely feasible to expand Heathrow whilst staying within the legal limits by 2025 which is what 

the Government is talking about.  You are pushing it how far knows back if they are serious about putting a 

third runway at Heathrow.  That is before I even start on noise pollution, general congestion in west London 

Page 37



 

 

that would create, and the fact that the aeroplanes all have to fly over the west London suburbs in order to 

land. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Your starting point and advice would be the same as it has been for four years - which 

reflects the Mayor’s position - that, in environmental terms, Heathrow is a no-go. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Clearly in environmental terms it 

would have some extremely difficult legal obstacles to get over if the Government intends to expand 

Heathrow.  We have seen the success of ClientEarth’s judgment in the Supreme Court in April last year.  It was 

quite helpful for us in that it finally focused the Government’s mind on the issue.  What do you think the 

queue would be for legal action against the expansion of Heathrow?  There would be the local boroughs and 

ClientEarth.  I do not know what the [Greater London] Authority might choose to do and whatever the Mayor 

might choose to do.  There would be a very, very long queue to the High Court on air quality alone, before we 

even start on some of the other issues which the Mayor has, obviously, talked about in some detail. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  James, what about your constituency? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  This is a tricky challenge for businesses because they are 

very split on it.  There is no debate that a lot of green businesses would side with the green non-governmental 

organisation (NGO) community and argue that it is utterly unacceptable.  There is the air pollution issue.  

There is also the climate issue which, again, has just been glossed over to a huge extent.  You are asking to 

take a very bold leap of faith in the aviation industry’s predictions they can bring down emissions immensely to 

make continued growth compatible with long-term carbon targets.  I agree entirely with Matthew that the 

legal risk would be staggering.  It would be delayed for years.  Then there would be the public protests as well.  

The original ‘Plane Stupid’ protests - whatever you think of them - that we saw the first time round we were 

having this debate would be many times bigger this second time once it was approved.  It would be front-page 

news and a long-running debate for years and years. 

 

In answer to your question of what the next Mayor should do if it is approved, if it is one of the two 

frontrunners he might have to resign as a Member of Parliament immediately.  Is that not the pledge that was 

made?  Then trigger a by-election. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  We are bringing politics into it.  What about if it was Gatwick?  You would feel 

strongly, but less so?  Would you have a view on Gatwick, either of you? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  From an air pollution perspective the opposition would 

be considerably less.  However, you are still not getting around that fundamental climate change question.  It 

would be less controversial but it would still be massively controversial.  There would still be significant 

challenges.  You would still see legal challenges.  There is no easy way out for this whatsoever. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  By definition, your readership constituency area is anti any airport expansion? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  No, I cannot say that.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  You nearly said that. 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  No, I am not speaking for them.  I am not an elected 

representative in any way, shape or form.  I would say the business community and the green business 

community are very split on this.  A lot of them would side with the climate hawk environmentalist position 

Page 38



 

 

that further expansion is unjustified and cannot be justified in a world where we have tight carbon budgets.  

However, there is part of the business community - and, indeed, part of the green business community - that 

would argue that an interconnected world, export opportunities and so forth would justify some degree of 

expansion.  In that case those would probably - again, I am only speculating here - side more with Gatwick 

because you have more contained local impacts. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  This is the final question on air pollution.  We spoke at length about, in essence, the 

fleet.  We are moving now to the non-road mobile machinery.  I understand the Mayor announced regulation 

of non-road mobile machinery - which is diggers, site dumpers and other machinery off-road - in 2014.  There 

is regulation around that kit around 2014.  The question really to Matthew, and then for comment after, is, 

how can the initial regulation of non-road mobile machinery be built on - and indeed vis-à-vis 2014 - why was 

it not regulated sooner?  

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It came into force I believe in 

September 2015, therefore about six months ago, and we announced the intention back in the summer of 

2014 as you said.  I remember standing in Bloomberg’s new building site in the pouring rain trying to explain 

this.  You say, “Why was it not done sooner?”  It is true that the conversations around this have taken a very 

long time and my air quality manager, who is currently on sabbatical, was ecstatic that we pulled it off, because 

there has been talk about it for a long time.  Therefore, it is a fair point to say that it has taken a while.  

However, I think it is also worth saying that we are the first authority to put in regulation for both the oxides of 

nitrogen (NOx) and particulate matter (PM) coming from non-road mobile machinery.  That just shows you 

again, as along with the ULEZ, we are the first city to bring this in.  It took a lot of engagement with the 

industry, because, again, mindful of London’s development, we need to make sure that the regulation we bring 

in is proportionate and reasonable and affordable, etc.  However, now we have it in, and we have different 

standards for the central activity zone, where we are now, and Canary Wharf, compared to suburban London, is 

it reasonable to ask a builder who works with a few houses in Croydon or Waltham Forest, the same, where the 

air pollution challenge is a lot less, and there is a lot less concentration of development, than there is in Canary 

Wharf or central London? 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Without going into too much detail, do they have to adjust or retrofit their kit or buy 

new kit or something like that? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  We have been very careful to ensure 

that the products are on the market.  Therefore, there are certain diggers, of which there is only one type, and 

they are extremely rare and they do not come around very often, and clearly you have to be reasonable and 

give exemptions for a particular product.  However, when it comes to cherry-pickers and most of them, they 

are being updated and they have certain stages similar to the Euro standards.  Now the regulation is in, we 

have agreed that in 2020 it will ratchet up because that will give another five to six years for the cleaner 

products to enter the marketplace. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, but it is too early to judge the impact. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  In fact, the impact on that, I am 

afraid to say I will have to write to the Committee what we model the impacts will be, and they are pretty 

profound.  If you look at the proportion of emissions, it is only central London, that come from construction 

equipment, from non-road mobile machinery (NRMM), they are remarkably high.  The mitigation figures we 

have modelled, which I am sorry I do not recall, therefore I will have to write to you, are pretty profound.  I 

think it is something that is technical and quite geeky, but I am quite proud that this administration it has been 

Page 39



 

 

the first in the world to do it.  Like all these things, you ratchet it slowly in a reasonable way, over time, 

cleaning that fleet up, and -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Just to pick up on that point, are you saying that London is the only city with this kind 

of regulation? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I believe it is the only one to regulate 

for both PM and for NOx.  I think PM has been around in other places for a while. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  James, do you want to comment on it? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  No, not a huge amount about it, sorry.  I would agree 

with Matthew, it is a big opportunity, it is an area that has gone a little bit under the radar in the air pollution 

debate, but there is this construction pollution and it is an area that has maybe got away a little bit with it.  

Therefore, it is encouraging that there are standards coming in.  As with all these things, let us hope they are 

enforced properly. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  There is that aspect.  The only other point really is that I do not know how costly it is 

to developers.  If it is affecting medium to small developers, or they just load it on to their costs, is that going 

to affect the cost of housing?  That has to be tested, has it not? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Steve, that is why we engaged so 

closely with industry over a period, and I very clearly remember a roundtable where we discussed what was 

reasonable and I think that it is interesting that, as we consulted and as we made the decisions, there was very 

little complaint from the industry, which I think is revealing.  The scheme that I proposed, that I recommended 

to the Deputy Mayor for Policy and Planning, Sir Edward Lister, and the Mayor, was mindful of the fact that 

the greater air pollution challenge is in central London, but you have the bigger players who can afford, 

frankly, the cleaner equipment, mindful that perhaps in your bit of suburban London or elsewhere, you might 

have a small builder working on one or two houses. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, that is my point. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Therefore, that is why we had a 

different standard for different areas that we will ratchet up over time. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  We have that difference? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes, and the fact there was very little 

complaint from the industry, from all sectors, would suggest to me that it was a reasonable thing to put in. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  That you got it right, OK. 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  Let us move on then to recycling. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Matthew, how satisfied can the Mayor be with the level of recycling targets? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Recycling, I would say that I do not 

think anybody working in the industry would be happy with the country in general’s recycling targets.  From a 

low base we made very great progress -- 

Page 40



 

 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I am talking about London’s. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  No, but London is not an island and 

we need to put this into a wider context, and London has suffered and has been affected by the same 

phenomenon as happened to the rest of the country.  We made very rapid progress over a quite short space of 

time and when the Mayor -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  When did you make the rapid progress? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  When the Mayor came in, recycling 

was at 22% and it is now at about 33%.  Therefore, we have seen a big increase -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Sorry, the recycling levels were at 29%. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  22.3%. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  29% in 2008/09, I just checked it. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  The figures I have, that I was told, 

was 22.3%.  However, OK, whatever they were, they were lower than they are now, and there was very rapid 

progress in the Mayor’s first term.  What is true, clearly, is that in the Mayor’s second term we have seen - as 

we have seen in the whole UK, it is not just London, and it is quite important to say that, we are not an island - 

a flat-lining of levels of  recycling, which is clearly disappointing.  That is why it is important that the London 

Waste and Recycling Board (LWARB), working with the Mayor and the boroughs, which, remember, of course 

you know all the boroughs because you were probably involved in the arguments back in 2006/7 under the 

former Mayor, when -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Up to my neck in rubbish, yes. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Yes, under the former Mayor when it 

came to the fact that we are not the waste collection and disposal authority.  However, we are working with 

LWARB to seek to have at least a standard recycling system or at least a bit more harmonisation in the 

recycling system across London.  I always give the example of Croxted Road, close to where I live in south 

London, where one side of the road is Southwark and they have umpteen bins, the other side of the road is 

Lambeth and they have a different system, and it just seems mad to me that, with a very itinerant population, 

with lots of churn, with a lot of people whose English perhaps is not absolutely brilliant when it comes to 

reading all the instructions and leaflets, and they move around and it is completely different. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  You are jumping really to what would have been my final question. 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  It [recycling harmonisation] is a key recommendation in today’s report from 

the Committee.3 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  It is to think about how we can 

harmonise and I think it is -- 

 

                                                 
3 Growing, Growing, Gone: long-term sustainable growth for London 

Page 41



 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Yes.  However, can I just stick to the Mayor’s record for a minute?  I just want to say that 

recycling levels were at about 9% to 10% max in 2000, they went up to 29%, 2008/09 - these are the figures 

that we get from the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) and so on - and now they 

are just going down and they are at 33%.  That is half a percent for every year that Boris Johnson has been 

Mayor.  Why do you think they have stalled in the last few years?  

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I would say that we captured the 

low-hanging fruit very quickly and a lot of that was clearly in the decade 2000 to 2010 or so, where clearly the 

country in general made great progress from a pretty low base.  Still, I am afraid to say, the infrastructure is 

very difficult to work, especially in London where we have many old flats where having the systems to have 

some kind of separated rubbish collection, waste collection, is a very challenging thing to do, which is why 

LWARB did a flats waste infrastructure programme in order to try to raise those rates.  However, I suppose the 

point I would make is we have made efforts in the same way that the rest of the country has made an effort.  

The whole country frankly has flatlined.  There are issues around this.  A good example of how to increase 

them is the borough I live in, Lambeth, brought in separate food waste collection, back in the beginning of 

2014 and their recycling rates went up 7% because they are capturing that waste stream.  However, it is a 

challenge, clearly, in London and I cannot pretend that we are not off the Mayor’s municipal waste target. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Yes.  Do you have any views on this, James? 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  Yes.  I agree with the angle of your question, it has been 

very, very disappointing, and I would also agree with -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Can I just interject and say to both of you, because I went to the Zero Waste Conference 

at the COP [21] in Paris, and cities all over the world are aiming now to go from 50% recycling rates to 75% or 

more, and we are lagging so behind, so behind, most cities.  I just want to put that in context.   

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  If we can let James respond, because I am going to have to cut the meeting 

short then after that because we have a number of Members who need to go to an LFEPA meeting and we will 

lose the quorum, so if we can make that the final question, and successfully-elected Members can pursue more 

questions with the new team -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Darren, could I just make a point then, because I really want to make this point?  During 

this Mayoral term, Belvedere Incinerator has come on stream, and Western Riverside [Waste Authority], which 

sends to Belvedere, has the lowest recycling rates of all the waste authorities: 19%.  The Mayor has given 

permission to an extra incinerator in London at Beddington, which is twice the capacity it needs to be for the 

waste arising from the boroughs around it, and will take waste from the rest of the south east.  I would say that 

the reason - it is a hypothesis - that recycling rates are going down, and that we have only done 4% in this, is 

because more and more, and for the country, more and more incineration capacity is coming on stream. 

 

James Murray (Editor-in-Chief, BusinessGreen):  Very, very quickly, I would just say there are two 

constituents in our readership who are very, very frustrated with the policy on environment at the moment, one 

of which is the renewable sector, which feels it has been messed around constantly over the last seven years; 

the other is the waste sector, which did not even have that privilege.  They have been ignored.  The Defra 

waste strategy of the last Government and the progress on it in this Government has been virtually 

non-existent.  There is no ambition.  There has been no leadership from Westminster whatsoever.  To be 

honest, again you see it has not been a priority for the Mayor.  There just does not seem to have been that real 

focus to drive it because waste is not glamorous, it is not exciting.  We have seen things that work.  Every now 

and again the Conservative Party has talked around incentive schemes and tried to incentivise, and they bring 

Page 42



 

 

out a pilot scheme to show, “Look, this boosts rubbish”.  It has always stayed at one pilot scheme.  This idea of 

points for recycling has not come through.  Rory Stewart (MP, Parliamentary Under Secretary of State at 

Defra) has come in and does seem to have a bit more energy for this agenda and take it a bit more seriously as 

Waste Minister.  He has made the point that having 600 different local authorities with different approaches is 

utterly crazy.  Those were his words.  There is now some push to do that.  Why it has taken this long is utterly 

beyond me.  There is complete confusion.  Like Matthew, I moved from Camden to Lewisham; suddenly my 

food waste recycling has gone. 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  We are all familiar with that.  Can I have a quick one-sentence from Matthew 

in response to that? 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  Nicky has a fundamental 

philosophical opposition to mass-burn waste to energy, and -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  That is fair, yes. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  -- under the former administration 

held up the Belvedere Incinerator, waste energy facility.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Think of the pollution! 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  I think and this administration thinks 

that is a completely misguided fundamental philosophical point of view.  There is a balance.  You do not want 

to go where the Dutch went, where they created over-capacity, so they sucked all of Europe’s waste into their 

waste to energy facilities, but, and there is a ‘but’, landfill has reduced from 50% to under 25%.  What is 

better, Nicky, what is better?  Is it better that we stick it in a hole in the ground, or is it better we get energy 

from the waste?   

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  This debate can continue into the next term and I am sure it will. 

 

Matthew Pencharz (Deputy Mayor for Environment and Energy):  When the Gloucestershire waste to 

energy facility is constructed, with finance from the Green Investment Bank, you will see almost none of 

London’s municipal waste going into landfill.  That is surely better than putting it into a hole in the ground, 

and mindful, I think, of these -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  There are other ways. 

 

Darren Johnson AM (Chair):  There are other ways, but anyway, this debate will continue.  Let us draw the 

meeting to a close.   

 

Can I thank James?  I think it has been really useful having your perspective coming in as an external observer, 

but a close observer of progress in London, so I think it has been really useful having your perspective.  

Matthew, although we have disagreed sometimes on targets and programmes and so on, I do not think anyone 

can doubt your commitment and passion for the role that you have held over the years, and we wish you all the 

best for the future.  Thank you very much from the Committee. 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 
 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 16 June 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public. 

 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of 

the Environment Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from its 

previous meetings. 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 9 March 2016 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

6. Mayoral Progress on Environment 

Objectives, 2012 – 2016 (Item 6) 

 

Authority was delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, 

to agree any output arising from the 

discussion. 

 

Superseded  

 

 

Following informal 

discussion, it was decided 

that there would be no 

output from the session. 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



        

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 4 February 2016 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

6. Follow-up to Work on Climate Change 

Adaptation (Item 6) 

 

During the course of the discussion, Members 

requested that the Principal Programme & 

Policy Officer, Greater London Authority 

(GLA), confirm the following in writing:  

 The scope and reporting timeline for 

the integrated water management 

strategy for the Old Oak and Park 

Royal Development Corporation; and 

 How many properties are covered by 

the 20 projects the GLA is running in 

collaboration with London boroughs 

under the Drain London fund. 

 

In progress 

 

 

The Chair has written to 

request the information. 

Principal 

Programme & 

Policy Officer, 

GLA. 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 10 December 2015 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

6. Environmental Pressures of London’s 

Long-term Growth: The Circular 

Economy (Item 6) 

 

Authority was delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, 

to agree the Committee’s report on the 

Environmental Pressures of London’s 

Long-term Growth. 

 

Completed 

 

 

 

Following consultation with 

party Group Lead Members, 

the Chair agreed the report, 

which is attached at 

Agenda Item 9 for noting. 

 

See Agenda Item 8 for 

further information about 

this delegation of authority. 

 

 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



        

3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1   The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 
4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 
 

List of appendices to this report:  None. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

 

Contact Officer: Ed Wise, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4619 

Email: ed.wise@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 47

mailto:ed.wise@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  
 

Report to: Environment Committee   
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 16 June 2016 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out action taken under delegated authority by a former Chair of the 

Environment Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the action taken under delegated authority by the former Chair 

of the Environment Committee, namely to agree, in consultation with the then party 

Group Lead Members, the Committee’s report on the environmental pressures of London’s 

long-term growth. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 Under Standing Orders and the Assembly’s Scheme of Delegation, certain decisions by Members can 

be taken under delegated authority.  This report details those actions.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 At its meeting on 10 December 2015, the Environment Committee resolved: 

 

“That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, 

to agree the Committee’s report on the Environmental Pressures of London’s Long-term 

Growth. 

 

4.2 Following consultation with the then party Group Lead Members, the former Chair of the 

Committee, Darren Johnson AM, agreed the Committee’s final report, Growing, growing, gone: 

Long-term sustainable growth for London.  The report is attached at Agenda Item 9 for noting. 

 

 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



        

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 
 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: Member’s Delegated Authority Form 662  (Environmental Pressures of London’s 

Long-term Growth)  

 

Contact Officer: Ed Wise, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4619 

E-mail: ed.wise@london.gov.uk 
 

Page 50

mailto:ed.wise@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Environmental Pressures of London’s 
Long-term Growth  
 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 16 June 2016  
 

This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This paper asks the Committee to note the report on the environmental pressures of London’s 

long-term growth, Growing, growing, gone. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report on the environmental pressures of London’s 

long-term growth, Growing, growing, gone: Long-term sustainable growth for London, as 

attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 At its meeting on 4 June 2015, the Committee delegated authority to the Chair, in consultation with 

party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for an investigation into the 

environmental pressures of London’s long-term growth.  Following consultation, the Chair agreed a 

set of terms of reference for the investigation. 

   

3.2 At its meeting on 5 November 2015, the Committee agreed to expand the scope of the investigation 

to incorporate consideration of materials management and the circular economy.  The final terms of 

reference were: 

1. To examine the environmental implications of London’s expected long-term growth to around 

2050.  Focussing on: 

a. Energy supply, demand and distribution 

b. Water management;  

c. Green infrastructure;  

d. Recycling, materials streams and the circular economy. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 9



        

2. To evaluate relevant aspects of Mayoral strategies, primarily the London Infrastructure Plan 

2050 and related work such as the Green Infrastructure Taskforce and the Energy Plan, and the 

London Plan, assessing the start that is being made on planning and preparing for the future. 

3. To contribute to the agenda for effective long-term planning to manage the environmental 

impacts of London’s growth and establish the city on a sustainable footing for the later 21st 

century.  

3.3 Officers confirm that the report and its recommendations fall within these terms of reference. 

3.4 The Committee held scrutiny sessions, with panels of invited experts, for this investigation at its 

formal meetings on 1 October, 5 November and 10 December 2015. 

 

 
4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The Committee is recommended to formally note the report Growing, growing, gone: Long-term 

sustainable growth for London, as attached at Appendix 1. 

 

4.2 After informal agreement from party Group Lead Members, the report was published on 

9 March 2016.   

4.3 This report suggests the following agenda for the 2016/17 Mayoralty: 

 

Recommendation 1 

The next Mayor should put long-term sustainability at the heart of all Mayoral strategies, positioning 

London to benefit from the century’s economic shifts, while improving quality of life for Londoners, 

biodiversity and resilience to severe weather, and reducing London’s impact on the global 

environment. 

 

Recommendation 2 

The next Mayor should: 

 Further develop and build on work with water management bodies to secure greater 

integration of water strategy across supply, demand, drainage and flood risk; 

 Use Mayoral powers to fully support integrated water strategy, including by: 

 Embedding sustainable integrated water management strongly in statutory Mayoral 

strategies, including the London Plan and the Transport Strategy as well as a new 

Environment Strategy; 

 Using Mayoral funding streams, including housing, transport and retrofit 

programmes, to support water strategy where appropriate; 

 Requiring integrated water management plans for major new development areas; and 

 Continuing to support the London Water Group and ensuring that Mayoral bodies 

engage with its work and Mayoral water strategy. 

 Using these powers, promote sustainable measures such as sustainable drainage, permeable 

paving, dual water systems, and rainwater capture, especially where they offer multiple 

benefits; 

Page 52



        

 Progress the work outlined in the Sustainable Drainage Action Plan, keeping it under review 

with regard to implementation and any additional needs emerging from population growth, 

development or climate change; 

 Lobby Ofwat (The Water Services Regulation Authority) and government for necessary 

regulatory changes to permit integrated, sustainable and long-term-focussed water strategy 

(these may include aligning or integrating drainage plans with water resource management 

plans, and ensuring that longer-term strategy is drawn up before shorter-term business 

plans); and 

 Engage in the debate on options for a major new water source to meet projected water 

shortfalls. 

 

Recommendation 3 

The next Mayor should: 

 Seek to protect London’s green and blue infrastructure and add to it where possible; 

 Ensure London gets more environmental service benefit out of its green and blue 

infrastructure by strategically planning the infrastructure’s multiple uses; 

 In the Environment Strategy, set out how green and blue infrastructure will be evaluated and 

mapped by function, and how these functions will be protected and enhanced as London 

develops (this could complement or expand on the Infrastructure Asset Register); 

 In the London Plan, amend the green space hierarchy to take account of uses and not just 

area, promote the accessibility of green space and require strategic assessment of green 

infrastructure requirements for developments; 

 Take forward the report on the Green Infrastructure Task Force; 

 Encourage multifunctional uses, including enhancing drainage and biodiversity, in 

Mayor-funded parks programmes; 

 Set ambitious further river restoration targets and recognise the benefits of upper river 

catchment flood alleviation in the next iteration of the London Plan; and 

 Look for ways to further discourage the paving over of front gardens and to reverse this 

trend, for example by showcasing good practice in de-paving 

 

Recommendation 4 

The next Mayor should: 

 Plan for London to reduce its overall energy usage, for example as in the London Energy 

Plan Low demand scenario, rather than increase it as in the Infrastructure Plan (reduction 

should be particularly considered in carbon-intensive uses); 

 Carry energy efficiency and other demand reduction measure’s through to revisions of the 

Infrastructure Plan, London Plan, Economic Development Strategy, Housing Strategy and 

Transport Strategy, as well as the Environment Strategy; 

 Retain and implement the zero-carbon homes standard; and 

 Review energy efficacy retrofit programmes with a view to implementing more effective 

models and accelerating retrofit activity to meet the 2025 climate change targets. 

 

 

Page 53



        

Recommendation 5 

The next Mayor should develop the London Infrastructure Plan, London Energy Plan and 

London Plan to better show how energy distribution infrastructure and strategy will: 

 Achieve London’s potential for solar energy; 

 Promote the development of decentralised electricity generation and grid connection, 

including by maintaining the zero-carbon homes requirement;  

 Work with the Government to establish how far the UK will bind itself to decarbonisation of 

grid electricity and therefore how viable is a low-carbon strategy based on centralised grid 

electricity;  

 Deliver heat via district-scale networks (actions may include planning requirements, funding, 

and effective action against air pollution, as well as existing policies); 

 Promote the development of demand-smoothing electricity technologies such as the 

smart grid and energy store; 

 Adapt to a post-fossil-fuel world, especially in the case of heat networks and existing fossil 

fuel infrastructure; and 

 Allocate investment efficiently between distribution capacity, energy efficiency and 

decentralised generation.  

 

Recommendation 6 

The next Mayor should put circularity at the heart of London’s economic development strategy. 

 

Recommendation 7 

The next Mayor should: 

 Give priority and strategic focus to the top of the waste hierarchy: waste reduction; renting 

and service provision; and re-use; 

 Measure and target these parts of the waste management mix; 

 Next prioritise lower-carbon, value-preserving forms of reprocessing, such as repair and 

remanufacture, distinguishing them from destructive recycling; and 

 Use economic development strategy to facility (and take advantage of) the circular economy 

by helping London businesses lead of design and manufacture changes and the use of 

reprocessed materials. 

Recommendation 8 

The next Mayor should bring together stakeholders to develop a route map to standardised 

municipal waste collections across London.  Some business waste could be included as well. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

Page 54



        

 
 

List of appendices to this report: 
Appendix 1 – Growing, growing, gone: Long-term sustainable growth for London. 
 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 6541 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk    

 

Page 55

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Environment Committee

©Greater London Authority March 2016 

Growing, growing, gone 
Long-term sustainable growth for London 

March 2016 

  

Appendix 1

Page 57



 

Environment Committee Members 
 
Darren Johnson (Chair)   Green 

Murad Qureshi (Deputy Chair)  Labour 

Jennette Arnold OBE    Labour 

James Cleverly  MP    Conservative 

Nicky Gavron     Labour 

Stephen Knight    Liberal Democrat 

Steve O’Connell    Conservative 

 

The Environment Committee scrutinises the work of the Mayor and examines 
environmental issues across London, with a particular focus on the mayor’s 
environmental strategies covering air quality, waste, biodiversity, noise, climate 
change and energy. 

 

Contact 

Mary Dolan, External Relations Officer  

Email: Mary.Dolan@london.gov.uk   

Contact: 020 7983 4603 

 
Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk  

Contact: 020 7983 6541 

 

Cover image credit: TfL Visual Image Services 
 
 

 

 

  

2 
 Page 58

mailto:Mary.Dolan@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


Contents 
Chair’s foreword ............................................................................................................... 4 

Executive summary ........................................................................................................... 6 

1. London’s growth and sustainability .......................................................................... 8 

2. Water management ................................................................................................ 11 

3. Green, blue and grey infrastructure ....................................................................... 15 

4. Energy and carbon emissions ................................................................................. 18 

5. A circular economy ................................................................................................. 24 

Notes ............................................................................................................................... 28 

Appendix 1 – Agenda for the next Mayoralty ................................................................ 32 

Appendix 2 – Contributors .............................................................................................. 36 

Orders and translations .................................................................................................. 38 

  

3 
 Page 59



Chair’s foreword 
London’s population is set to grow by around 100,000 each 
year. At this rate by the middle of the century it may need 
to provide housing, workplaces, recreation, energy and 
water to accommodate 11 million, 12 million people or 
even more.  This growth raises huge environmental 
challenges at a time when we need to be reducing them.  
The next Mayor of London will need to develop effective 
long-term policies across all Mayoral strategies for these economic shifts, whilst at the 
same time improving the quality of life for Londoners, habitats and biodiversity, 
resilience to severe weather and London’s impacts on the global environment.  
 
This investigation has focused on four key challenges: water shortfalls and how to deal 
with excess water; pressures on our natural environment and maximising use of green 
spaces and waterways; energy needs and keeping carbon emission down; and putting 
the circular economy at the heart of London’s economic development.  
 
Water demand is outstripping supply and Londoners face drinking water shortfalls. At 
the same time sewer overflows and flood risk are becoming more of a problem as 
intense rainfall is expected to increase. The roll out of sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) and rainwater capture has a fundamental role.  Past fragmented approaches 
are reaching their limits and the development of a long-term sustainable water 
strategy across supply, demand, drainage and flood risk needs to be embedded in 
statutory Mayoral strategies, including the London Plan, the Transport Strategy as well 
as the Environment Strategy.  But even this may not be enough and the Mayor will 
need to debate options for a potential new major water source.  
 
As the need for houses, schools and workplaces grows within London’s existing urban 
footprint, so will the need to protect our green spaces and natural habitats, which will 
come under increasing pressure. Many green spaces are managed to provide a single 
benefit, but there is great potential to maximise their uses from recreation, habitat 
and biodiversity creation, to restoring an adjacent river to an open channel to retain 
floodwaters. The Mayor will need to take forward the recommendations of the Green 
Infrastructure Task Force, deliver on existing tree canopy and vegetation cover targets 
and discourage and reverse the trend of paving over front gardens.  
 
Meeting the energy needs of London’s growing population, keeping homes warm and 
supporting the economy, whilst at the same time accelerating carbon cuts to meet 
London’s targets and reducing its overall energy consumption are critical challenges 
for the new Mayor. By now London’s total emissions have been cut by 11 per cent, 
short of the 17 per cent required by now with 15 million tonnes more of CO2 than if 
emissions had fallen into line with the Mayor’s strategy. Another disappointment is 
our record on London’s loft and cavity wall retrofits and record on solar energy.  Only 

4 
 Page 60



the Low demand scenario in the Mayor’s London Energy Plan is consistent with the 
2025 and 2050 carbon reduction targets and plan for London to reduce its overall 
energy usage.  
 
New technologies provide opportunities to achieve this, but also bring their own 
demands for energy infrastructure and supply.  London will need to invest in modern 
energy infrastructure, especially low-carbon decentralised energy generation such as 
solar energy, heat networks and electricity distribution and storage.  The zero-carbon 
homes standard should be retained and implemented.   
 
Another key challenge is the failure of too many London boroughs in not providing 
separate food waste collection and their poor recycling records. This has resulted in 
London’s recycling rate flat-lining at 33 per cent and well short of the 2015 target of 45 
per cent.  The EU ‘circular economy’ proposals have set a target of 65 per cent of 
municipal waste recycled by 2030.   
 
The new Mayor must look at ways of keeping more of what we consume and produce 
in London, to utilise it better and waste less, in line with the waste hierachy.  We must 
end the futility of spending money and labour extracting materials from the 
environment in order to then throw a large proportion away to landfill or incineration, 
or losing much of the value by mixing and breaking them down in bulk recycling. 
Moving to a circular economy offers a solution and needs to be embedded into the 
heart of London’s economic development strategy. 
 
I would like to thank all those who contributed to this investigation, both during the 
Committee meetings and in written submissions, as their input has been valuable in 
producing this report. 

 
Darren Johnson AM 

Chair of the Environment Committee 

 

  

5 
 Page 61



Executive summary 
By 2050 the city’s population is likely to be over 10 million and potentially 12 or 13 
million.  Such growth will tend to increase the city’s environmental impacts, working 
against efforts to moderate them.  Left unchecked, the impacts would include carbon 
emissions, water shortage, sewage outflow, urban sprawl and habitat destruction. 

There is an alternative: more sustainable urban growth offers economic opportunities, 
lower costs, resilience to severe weather, a more attractive city and better quality of 
life and wellbeing.  But this sustainable growth cannot be delivered by isolating 
sustainability planning within an environmental policy silo.  Environmental 
sustainability must run through all the Mayor’s strategies if London is to grow 
successfully over the decades to come. 

London faces a drinking water shortfall, but at the same time problems of excess 
water: sewer overflows and flood risk in the event of excess rainfall.  Attempts to deal 
with each problem separately are running into difficulties; new approaches tackle 
them together, promising to be much more effective.  These include sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) and rainwater capture.  London therefore needs a long-term 
integrated water management strategy, supported by Mayoral powers and 
programmes.  However, implementing such a strategy is difficult as water 
management is fragmented across many different bodies – there is a need for 
regulatory changes to facilitate integrated, sustainable and long-term focused water 
strategy. 

There is huge pressure to build on London’s land.  But London’s green spaces, 
brownfield sites and green features provide valuable environmental services.  The 
tension over how much land to build on will therefore have to be managed.  London’s 
green spaces will need to be used more intelligently to maximise the benefits they can 
offer.  This must start by evaluating each site for the benefits it provides, and those it 
could provide.  This potential should then be fulfilled through the Mayor’s planning 
powers and parks and green infrastructure programmes.   

London needs to supply energy to increasing numbers of homes and workplaces.  
However, it also needs to reduce carbon emissions faster to catch up to its targets.  
These carbon cuts will not be made while increasing overall energy use: there needs to 
be a focus across Mayoral strategies and programmes on reducing the energy that 
people need to use.   

Part of reducing energy use will involve adopting new, more efficient technologies.  
These will use energy in different ways and perhaps in different forms, so there will be 
a need for new infrastructure to deliver it, such as heat networks, vehicle charging 
points and electricity storage.  The distribution infrastructure will also need to 
accommodate new sources of energy supply, such as solar panels, combined heat and 
power, and heat pumps.     

6 
 Page 62



The current economy spends much money and labour extracting materials from the 
environment.  After use, we throw a large proportion away to landfill or incineration 
(damaging the environment) and lose much of the value in other materials by mixing 
them up and breaking them down in bulk recycling.  London is vulnerable to price rises 
and supply interruptions of globally scarce materials. Moving to a circular economy 
protects against these risks, and offers job and earning opportunities.  The next Mayor 
should therefore put a circular economy at the heart of London’s economic 
development strategy, and direct waste management policy at the most sustainable 
methods of dealing with waste, including reducing the amount of waste generated, re-
using, repairing, re-manufacturing and high-quality recycling.  Recycling is much easier 
with a very large and consistent waste stream: to facilitate recycling, the next Mayor 
should oversee the development of a route map to standardised municipal waste 
collections by all London boroughs.       

 

 

  

7 
 Page 63



1. London’s growth and sustainability  

Key issues 
London’s population is growing by around 100,000 each year, and is expected to keep 
growing rapidly to at least the middle of the century.  By 2050 the city’s population 
could be 11 million, 12 million or even more.  Such growth will increase the city’s 
environmental impacts, just at a time when they need to reduce.  Left unchecked, the 
impacts would include carbon emissions, water use, sewage outflow, urban sprawl and 
habitat destruction. 

There is an alternative: more sustainable urban growth offers economic opportunities, 
lower costs, resilience to severe weather, a more attractive city and better quality of 
life and wellbeing.  But this sustainable growth cannot be delivered by isolating 
sustainability planning within an environmental policy silo.  Environmental 
sustainability must run through all the Mayor’s strategies if London is to grow 
successfully over the decades to come.   

Population growth 
1.1 London’s population and economy are set to grow substantially over the next few 

decades.  There are a number of different projections, but all reach the same general 
conclusion, that London by mid-century will be much more populous than ever before.  
The ‘high’ scenario used in the Mayor’s Infrastructure Plan would see London at more 
than twice the number (and therefore twice the density) it shrank to in the 1980s.1   

London’s historic and projected population (millions, Greater London area) 

 
Figures from the GLA Intelligence Unit, used in the London Infrastructure Plan2 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

1900 1950 2000 2050

High 13.4m

Central 11.3m

Low 9.5m

Historic

8 
 Page 64



Environmental sustainability 
1.2 All these extra people and their activities will require housing, workplaces, recreation, 

energy and water.  As well as global impacts like carbon emissions, there will be local 
impacts like the loss of green space and wildlife habitats, more rainfall runoff, extra 
waste generation, and more demand for water and energy.  These effects of 
population growth are already affecting London; poorly planned growth would greatly 
worsen these issues and reduce Londoners’ quality of life.   

1.3 Effective planning for growth, by contrast, can improve quality of life and maximise 
economic opportunities.  Energy-efficient homes are more comfortable.  A greener 
cityscape is more pleasant to live in and more resilient to the impacts of severe 
weather.3  An economy geared up to provide sustainability solutions is an economy 
ready to take advantage of the growth areas of the 21st century.4  Therefore, plans to 
grow London need to be accompanied by plans to make London environmentally 
sustainable.   

1.4 This shift to sustainability cannot be achieved by seeing it as the goal of a single minor 
policy area.  Sustainability should be a central issue for all London’s strategies, 
including economic, transport and spatial as well as environmental.5   

1.5 To some extent this is already true: environmental sustainability has informed the 
strategies of London’s Mayors since the establishment of the Greater London 
Authority (GLA).  But much policy development and other thinking has taken place, 
within the GLA and outside, in the years since the publication of the current Mayor’s 
strategies.6  The forthcoming new Mayoralty provides a golden opportunity to ensure 
that the best of this thinking informs a new set of strategies.   

The next Mayor should: 

Put long-term sustainability at the heart of all Mayoral strategies, positioning London 
to benefit from the century’s economic shifts, while improving quality of life for 
Londoners, biodiversity and resilience to severe weather, and reducing London’s 
impact on the global environment. 

 

9 
 Page 65



Challenges 
1.6 This Committee has investigated, over a number of years, the environmental 

challenges facing London.7  The biggest challenges, and those most likely to get worse 
as the city grows, include: 

• toxic pollution in London’s air 

• meeting energy needs and keeping homes warm while reducing carbon 
emissions to the global atmosphere 

• water management and projected water shortfalls 

• the unsustainable use and waste of physical materials 

• the loss of natural environment benefits as the urban area becomes ever more 
densely built up.   

1.7 In planning this investigation, we chose not to focus on toxic air pollution as we have 
recently published reports on the subject.8  We initially selected energy and carbon 
emissions, water supply and green space as the topics to focus on.  Waste of materials 
was added in response to contributions received in writing from London boroughs, the 
London Waste and Recycling Board and others.  Therefore, this report seeks to identify 
important strategic objectives for the next Mayor in those four areas.   

  

10 
 Page 66



2. Water management  

Key issues 
London faces a drinking water shortfall, but at the same time problems of excess 
water: sewer overflows and flood risk in the event of excess rainfall.  Past approaches 
to dealing with each problem separately are reaching their limits; new approaches 
tackle them together, promising to be much more effective.  These include sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS) and rainwater capture.  London therefore needs a long-term 
integrated water management strategy.  However, implementing such a strategy is 
difficult as water management is fragmented across many different bodies. 

Water supply and demand 
2.1 Water supply is not a new challenge.  As we have previously noted and encouraged, 

water resource plans already incorporate significant elements of water efficiency, 
leakage reduction and water metering, as well as extracting water from the 
environment and storing it against future need.9   

2.2 However, demand is still outstripping supply.  Thames Water calculates the most likely 
water supply and demand in a year of low rainfall, and adds a ‘headroom’ allowance 
for uncertainty in the projections.  In the baseline projections for the current Water 
Resources Management Plan, supply was already below demand plus headroom, and 
set to fall below the central demand projection by 2019.  The projected headroom 
shortfall was 20  per cent by 2040, around half a bath full per person per day.   

Thames Water’s projected shortfall of baseline water supply against demand 

 
Source: Thames Water, Water Resources Management Plan 201410  Figures in million litres per day 

 

11 
 Page 67



2.3 If anything, these projections from Thames Water understate the severity of the 
situation. These 2014 figures do not fully reflect current population growth projections 
and are likely to be pushed up as Thames Water updates its assumptions.  The 
situation will become more challenging still as London grows beyond 2040.   

2.4 Furthermore, the projections are based on a single dry year.  When there are two dry 
winters in succession (as in 2010-11 and 2011-12) groundwater is not replenished and 
London’s water sources become depleted, leading to restrictions on water use 
(‘hosepipe bans’).  More severe droughts (involving three or more successive dry 
winters) occur several times per century and so are in fact reasonably likely within a 
25-year period.  A third dry winter could deplete water levels to the extent that supply 
to households could be affected, and uses not essential to human health (such as 
gardening, swimming pools, outdoor washing) might be tightly restricted, bringing 
serious economic impacts on water-dependent businesses.  It is not clear what the 
implications would now be of a drought any more severe than this, though such a 
drought has happened within the span of London’s modern weather records.  The 
allowance for low rainfall used in water resource planning should be brought towards 
a 1-in-100 year drought event, bringing drought preparedness nearer to the standard 
sought in flood risk reduction.11 

2.5 Therefore, new measures are required.  Water companies have in place enough 
measures to keep the taps running for the next few years.  Those being explored for 
greater use in future include: capturing rainwater on-site and using it for non-drinking 
purposes (such as flushing toilets, outdoor washing, or watering gardens); indirect re-
use of treated waste water; or the construction of a new reservoir to capture more 
rainfall in wet winters.12   

Flood risk and drainage 
2.6 As we have previously examined, London faces growing flood risks and drainage 

challenges.13  London’s greatest flood risk, taking into account existing protections 
such as the Thames Barrier and other river and estuary defences, is of surface water 
and sewer flooding in the event of a heavy rainstorm.14  London’s large areas of 
impermeable surfaces such as roofs and tarmac mean that storm water rapidly 
reaches the drainage system and overwhelms it.  If London were to experience an 
extreme rainstorm (such as those that have affected parts of the country in most years 
this century15), rapid flooding would ensue, with likely loss of life and property damage 
in the order of tens of billions of pounds.16   

2.7 The Mayor has been developing flood risk work, through the statutory Climate Change 
Adaptation Strategy as well as the Water Strategy which the Mayor has drawn up 
proactively.17  Encouraged perhaps by our recommendations, the Mayor has pursued 
work to reduce London’s flood risk, especially by mapping the risk of surface water 
flooding in the event of heavy rain, and by promoting the use of sustainable drainage 
systems (SuDS) and permeable surfaces.  The Mayor has recently published a draft 
Sustainable Drainage Action Plan, and we welcome this work and broadly welcome its 
contents.18   

12 
 Page 68



2.8 However, there is a great deal of work still to do.  Hundreds of thousands of Londoners 
remain at risk of surface water flooding, with their homes (often unknowingly) in the 
path that water would take draining across the surface from higher ground to lower.  
The Sustainable Drainage Action Plan envisages reducing flows to London’s drains by 
one per cent each year for the next 25 years, but this target needs defining19, it will 
need monitoring, and it is not clear how it will be delivered.  There is a great need to 
fit SuDS to both new and existing properties, the road network and to exchange 
impermeable paving for permeable wherever possible, and to ensure that properties 
in flood risk areas are resilient to the flooding that they are unfortunately likely to 
experience sooner or later.  The suggestion in the draft Sustainable Drainage Action 
Plan that the drainage element of business water bills could be related to the 
impermeable surface of the premises could provide an incentive to fit SuDS and should 
be explored further.20   

Integrating water strategy 
2.9 There are close linkages between all of these issues: single measures (such as 

rainwater capture) can solve multiple problems.  For example, capturing rainwater 
from the gutters of a building reduces flood risk and the frequency of sewer overflow, 
and can also provide water for non-drinking uses, relieving pressure on the treated 
water supply.  Therefore, water strategy works best on an integrated approach and 
London’s key challenge is to bring work on these areas (and related non-water issues 
such as road maintenance) together.   

2.10 However, institutional barriers stand in the way: the Mayor has an integrated Water 
Strategy, but this does not itself have statutory force and other bodies are responsible 
for delivering most areas of water management.  Thames Water and London’s other 
water supply companies have many of the relevant powers, but Ofwat and the water 
industry regulatory framework stipulate separate plans for drainage and for water 
resources.  Flood risk responsibility is split, largely between the Environment Agency 
and local authorities.  Bodies such as TfL and highways departments that manage the 
streetscape are not primarily responsible for drainage; neither are they for supplying 
water needs.  There is a London Water Group to bring together stakeholders (including 
water companies, regulators, other water businesses, local authorities and third sector 
organisations) and its work should be supported.   

2.11 Major new developments can occur within the lifetime of a water strategy and create 
water and drainage demands big enough to go beyond what it had planned for.  A 
development-specific integrated water management plan can ensure that water 
management is upgraded to accommodate the development.  Examples are underway 
for the development areas of Vauxhall Nine Elms and Old Oak Common and these 
should show the way for future development areas, including the Opportunity Areas 
outlined in the London Plan.21 

13 
 Page 69



The next Mayor should: 

Further develop and build on work with water management bodies to secure greater 
integration of water strategy across supply, demand, drainage and flood risk. 

Use Mayoral powers to fully support integrated water strategy, including by: 

• embedding sustainable integrated water management strongly in statutory 
Mayoral strategies, including the London Plan and the Transport Strategy as 
well as a new Environment Strategy 

• using Mayoral funding streams, including housing, transport and retrofit 
programmes, to support water strategy where appropriate 

• requiring integrated water management plans for major new development 
areas 

• continuing to support the London Water Group and ensuring that Mayoral 
bodies engage with its work and Mayoral water strategy. 

Using these powers, promote sustainable measures such as sustainable drainage, 
permeable paving, dual water systems, and rainwater capture, especially where they 
offer multiple benefits.   

Progress the work outlined in the Sustainable Drainage Action Plan, keeping it under 
review with regard to implementation and any additional needs emerging from 
population growth, development or climate change.   

Lobby Ofwat and government for necessary regulatory changes to permit integrated, 
sustainable and long-term-focused water strategy (these may include aligning or 
integrating drainage plans with water resource management plans, and ensuring that 
longer-term strategy is drawn up before shorter-term business plans) 

Engage in the debate on options for a major new water source to meet projected 
water shortfalls. 

14 
 Page 70



3. Green, blue and grey infrastructure  

Key issues 
There is huge pressure to build on London’s land.  But London’s green spaces, 
brownfield sites and green features provide valuable environmental services.  The 
tension over how much land to build on will therefore have to be managed.  London’s 
green spaces will need to be used more intelligently to maximise the benefits they can 
offer.  This must start by evaluating each site for the benefits it provides, and those it 
could provide.   

The tension between building on land and gaining environmental services from it 
3.1 Environmental services, from flood reduction to public amenity, can be provided by 

‘green infrastructure’ (green space, and vegetation in streets and on buildings) ‘blue 
infrastructure’ (waterways and water management features) and, to a much smaller 
extent, ‘grey infrastructure’ (hard engineering like buildings and paving).   

3.2 There will be significant tension between the drive to increase grey infrastructure for 
housing and economic growth, and the increasing need for environmental services 
best provided by green and blue infrastructure.  By 2050, London could require 
10-25,000 hectares of land to build a million homes, plus more land for the associated 
services, infrastructure and workplaces.22  Much of this will have to be built within 
London’s existing urban footprint; the current Infrastructure Plan does not envisage 
building on Green Belt land until at least 2025, although it does not rule it out after 
that.23   

3.3 While protecting green infrastructure from loss, there is also a need to increase it 
where possible.  The current Mayor has targets to increase tree canopy cover by 5 per 
cent by 2025 across London, and vegetation cover in central London by 5 and then 10 
per cent by 2030 and 2050.  A target to restore 15km of watercourses to more natural 
channels by 2015 has been met,  but uncertainty remains about the delivery of the 
additional 10km target by 2020. 24  

15 
 Page 71



The Green Infrastructure Task Force 

The Green Infrastructure Task Force was established by the Mayor as part of work to 
take forward the Infrastructure Plan.  It was Chaired by the Deputy Mayor for 
Environment.  It advocated building green infrastructure thinking into Mayoral policy, 
with a strong evidence base and definitive standards.  It set out specific ways to deliver 
enhanced green infrastructure, through a number of Mayoral and partnership 
initiatives.  It stressed the importance of highlighting the value of green infrastructure 
and proposed ways to take this forward.  Finally, it proposed ways to improve green 
infrastructure governance and secure funding.25   

Each piece of green infrastructure can have many benefits 
3.4 Many green spaces are currently managed to provide a single benefit, but there is 

great potential for extra benefits to be gained from multi-purpose spaces.  For 
example, a park, used for years for recreation, could have areas of grass left uncut at 
certain seasons, an adjacent river restored to an open channel and landscaping to 
retain floodwaters, delivering benefits to both biodiversity and flood risk reduction.26    
The report of the Green Infrastructure Task Force shows a good understanding of this 
principle, stressing the value of green infrastructure and the importance of gaining 
multiple benefits from each element.   

3.5 A starting point for increasing the benefits from each green space is to know what 
benefits are currently provided.  The uses and accessibility of London’s spaces (from 
open green belt areas and upper river catchments to suburban parks, brownfield sites, 
and potentially green/blue features within and around built developments) need to be 
systematically reviewed. The London Plan and All-London Green Grid Supplementary 
Planning Guidance currently categorise and rank green spaces mainly by size.  Better 
information about their uses would enable a more sophisticated categorisation, 
allowing these planning frameworks to operate much more effectively to protect and 
promote valuable blue and green infrastructure and ensure that its benefits reach all 
of London’s areas.  Boroughs would benefit from guidance from the GLA on 
biodiversity reporting, and potentially from help from GLA volunteering 
programmes.27 

3.6 Quantifying green infrastructure and biodiversity benefits should not be taken to 
commodify nature, but to show its value as an asset.  It can help green infrastructure 
and biodiversity take a place in the allocation of scarce resources.   

3.7 The London Plan is a powerful tool for green infrastructure policy, and could influence 
the opening up of green space that forms part of developments.  It could also require 
that green infrastructure implications of developments be looked at strategically, as 
with transport.28 

16 
 Page 72



The next Mayor should: 

Seek to protect London’s green and blue infrastructure and add to it where possible 

Ensure London gets more environmental service benefit out of its green and blue 
infrastructure by strategically planning the infrastructure’s multiple uses 

In the Environment Strategy, set out how green and blue infrastructure will be 
evaluated and mapped by function, and how these functions will be protected and 
enhanced as London develops (this could complement or expand on the Infrastructure 
Asset Register) 

In the London Plan, amend the green space hierarchy to take account of uses and not 
just area, promote the accessibility of green space and require strategic assessment of 
green infrastructure requirements for developments 

Take forward the report of the Green Infrastructure Task Force 

Encourage multifunctional uses, including enhancing drainage and biodiversity, in 
Mayor-funded parks programmes 

Set ambitious further river restoration targets and recognise the benefits of upper 
river catchment flood alleviation in the next iteration of the London Plan 

Look for ways to further discourage the paving over of front gardens and to reverse 
this trend, for example by showcasing good practice in de-paving. 

 

  

17 
 Page 73



4. Energy and carbon emissions 

Key issues 
London needs to meet the energy needs of its growing population, keeping homes 
warm and supporting the economy.  However, it also needs to accelerate its carbon 
cuts to meet its targets, especially for 2025.  These carbon cuts will not be made while 
increasing overall energy use: there needs to be a focus on reducing the energy that 
people need to use.   

New technologies provide opportunities to achieve this, but also bring their own 
demands for energy infrastructure and supply.  London will need to invest in modern 
energy infrastructure, especially low-carbon decentralised energy generation, heat 
networks and electricity distribution and storage.   

4.1 The Mayor has committed to cut carbon emissions by 80 per cent by 2050, and by 60 
per cent by 2025, with a strategy showing how emissions should reduce year-by-year 
to 2025.  However, carbon reductions, and some of the programme delivery, have not 
kept pace with the plan so far.   The most recent available figures are for 2013, and the 
cut achieved by then was 11 per cent – but under the strategy it should have been 
17 per cent.  Total emissions had by then been 15 million tonnes more than if 
emissions had fallen in line with the strategy.  Emissions reductions in the home and 
workplace sectors are particularly behind schedule, and the programmes to retrofit 
existing buildings with energy efficiency measures need to accelerate considerably.29   

4.2 The new Mayor has an opportunity to reinvigorate this strategy in the next few years, 
with a view to meeting the 2025 target.  The new Mayor will also need to start work 
on longer-term strategies to meet the 2050 target.  The expected growth of London’s 
population will be a significant factor.   

The tendency of growth to drive up energy use should be resisted 
4.3 Population growth will exert upward pressure on electricity demand.  The 

Infrastructure Plan envisaged approximately a 30 per cent increase in population by 
2050, with a 10 per cent improvement in energy efficiency, giving overall demand 
growth of about 20 per cent.30  Increasing energy use would correspondingly increase 
the need for low-carbon generation.  This would be a problem, since the growth of 
low-carbon generation is to date slower than planned, as discussed further in the next 
section.   

4.4 However, overall energy use need not rise: it is in fact already falling (for all of Greater 
London, from 156 terawatt hours in 2005 to 132 terawatt hours in 2013, while the 
population grew by around three-quarters of a million)31 and can continue to do so.  
At the household level, 10 per cent savings are typically achievable in the short term 
with simple measures using existing technology (such as turning thermostats down, 
reducing draughts, using low energy bulbs and switching off appliances not in use32), 
so greater savings will be possible by 2050, given new technology and appropriate 

18 
 Page 74



policy measures.  Therefore, the assumption of growth in the Infrastructure Plan looks 
unnecessary, even unrealistic.33   

4.5 The recent London Energy Plan offers three scenarios of future energy demand, of 
which only the High scenario seems consistent with the Infrastructure Plan in terms of 
growing overall energy demand.  In contrast, only the Low demand scenario is 
consistent with the 2025 and 2050 carbon reduction targets; this scenario, and 
therefore the targets, require energy use in 2050 to be reduced by nearly 30 per cent 
compared to 2015.34   

4.6 The Mayor has many opportunities to drive energy demand reduction, including 
energy efficiency requirements for new buildings and energy efficiency retrofit 
programmes for existing buildings  

4.7 For new buildings, the London Plan requires all new homes to meet a ‘zero-carbon’ 
standard from 2016.  This policy will need to be retained by the next Mayor and 
applied effectively to support the Mayor’s carbon reduction strategies, as the 
standard’s application has been suspended in national policies.35   

4.8 To retrofit existing buildings, the Mayor has the Re:New programme for homes and 
the Re:Fit programme for workplaces.  Energy efficiency can save households and 
businesses money and increase wellbeing: we therefore fully support the aims of 
these programmes.  Mayoral work could be more effective in these areas – for 
example, even if the current phase of the Re:New programme delivers its targets, the 
2015 milestone for retrofitting homes in the Mayoral strategy is not set to be achieved 
before 2017.  Re:Fit was doing much better against its 2015 targets, but retrofit in 
both domestic and workplace sectors needs to accelerate greatly over the next 
Mayoral term to implement the Mayoral strategy and support the 2025 carbon 
target.36   

 Re:New 
delivery 

Estimated total 
delivery 

Milestone 
2015 

Milestone 
2020 

Target  
2025 

Homes reached 113,000 500,000+ 1.2 million 2.4 million 2.9 million 

Easy measures 
fitted 

80,000 400,000 9 million 11.4 million 15.7 million 

Loft or cavity 
wall insulation 
installations 

16,000 80,000 1.7 million 1.7 million 1.7 million 

Solid wall 
insulation 
installations 

4,000 20,000 60,000 586,000 731,000 

 

19 
 Page 75



4.9 Much further work will be needed to 2050, as the Energy Plan Low demand scenario 
envisages that by then all London’s homes will meet at least 2013 energy efficiency 
standards, with 90  per cent of older properties having major retrofit measures such as 
solid wall insulation and double glazing.  Change on such a scale cannot be left to the 
end of the period and strategy developed in the next Mayoral term will be crucial.37   

4.10 Other Mayoral levers on energy demand include transport policy, where reducing 
energy demand goes alongside reducing costs, reducing congestion and reducing toxic 
air pollution, while increasing active travel and Londoners’ wellbeing.   

The next Mayor should: 

Plan for London to reduce its overall energy usage, for example as in the London 
Energy Plan Low demand scenario, rather than increase it as in the Infrastructure Plan  
(reduction should be particularly considered in carbon-intensive uses) 

Carry energy efficiency and other demand reduction measures through to revisions of 
the Infrastructure Plan, London Plan, Economic Development Strategy, Housing 
Strategy and Transport Strategy as well as the Environment Strategy   

Retain and implement the zero-carbon homes standard 

Review energy efficiency retrofit programmes with a view to implementing more 
effective models and accelerating retrofit activity to meet the 2025 climate change 
targets. 

London’s energy infrastructure must adapt to future energy supplies and demands  
4.11 London’s energy is currently largely from mains gas, grid electricity and filling stations.  

London’s current energy supply mix 

 
 

Gas 48% 

Electricity 
(buildings) 27% 

Electricity 
(transport) 2% 

Transport fuels 
21% 

Other building 
fuels 2% 

20 
 Page 76



4.12 As London grows to 2050, its energy needs are unlikely to fall by 80 per cent and so 
the ‘carbon intensity’ – the amount of carbon emitted per unit of energy supplied – 
will need to reduce to make up the rest of the carbon reductions. Energy from outside 
London remains, so far, carbon-intensive – fossil fuels will always be so, and there has 
not yet been a consistent reduction in the carbon intensity of electricity in the national 
grid.38  Therefore, low-carbon generation within London has to be an important 
element of London’s carbon reduction strategy.  The Mayor envisages this 
‘decentralised energy’ sector meeting 25 per cent of demand by 202539.  The Energy 
Plan has two variations on its Low demand scenario: even the Centralised energy 
supply variation assumes a much greater role than today for decentralised generation 
in London; the Decentralised scenario obviously entails more still.  The Centralised 
scenario relies on national grid electricity being decarbonised, and on the grid itself 
coping with much heavier use – therefore London may be pushed towards the 
decentralised scenario if national energy policy does not deliver a sufficiently high 
capacity low-carbon grid.40   

4.13 However, decentralised energy is not growing as fast as planned and there will need to 
be ‘significant changes to incentives, policies and funding’ for it to deliver the 
necessary contribution to the Mayoral targets.41      

4.14 One of London’s biggest potential sources of low-carbon energy is solar power.  We 
have recently reported on domestic photovoltaic (PV) panels, finding that there is an 
enormous untapped energy resource on the roofs of London’s homes, which currently 
supply about 1 per cent of London’s electricity but could supply 20 per cent.  We 
recommended that Mayoral strategy should drive the installation of solar PV, including 
by: setting out the potential for PV and targets for achieving it; by establishing why 
London currently has the lowest PV installation rates in the country and tackling these 
barriers; and by requiring PV on new developments through planning powers.42  The 
Energy Plan, even in its centralised supply scenario but especially in its decentralised 
and mixed supply scenarios, also envisages a huge increase in solar power by 2050.43  
The current Mayor has declined to set targets for PV or require it on new 
developments, but the next Mayor has a chance to think again. 

4.15 The mains gas network should see lower demand, and will need to switch to (largely) 
renewable fuel input – it is estimated that up to 30 per cent of current gas demand 
could be met by bio-methane, gas synthesised from waste and hydrogen.44  More 
work needs to be done to examine how London can fully exploit its potential for bio-
methane and other renewable fuels as an additional element of its low-carbon energy 
supply mix. 

The electricity grid in particular will need investment and supportive policy 
4.16 The electricity network, in contrast, may see heavier use, even if the doubling of 

electricity demand by 2050 envisaged by the Infrastructure Plan is based on an 
excessive assumption of overall energy use.  Major new uses for electricity will include 
charging electric vehicles and electricity-dependent heating such as heat pumps.  The 

21 
 Page 77



distribution network is already under pressure in some areas as London’s population 
grows and so may need investment to increase its capacity.45   

4.17 London’s electricity distribution network will have to be transformed to accommodate 
decentralised generation (potentially a very large amount, as noted above), and to 
facilitate smart electricity use, demand response and storage.   

4.18 An important element of future electricity strategy nationwide is making electricity 
use responsive to the availability of low cost, low-carbon sources like solar power, 
wind and tide.  Another, related, element is smoothing demand so that peak electricity 
use is reduced (the distribution capacity needed for large peaks is expensive to install 
and maintain but is often unused).  With new technology, many uses, such as 
refrigeration, washing appliances and battery charging can be switched on or off to 
achieve these shifts and responses. Electricity can also be stored in batteries to 
provide on-demand electricity in the home without making a demand on the grid at 
peak usage, cost or carbon intensity.46   

4.19 Energy efficiency and local generation can also reduce demand on distribution 
infrastructure, and so offer alternative ways of ensuring that the distribution network 
is not over-burdened.47 

4.20 London’s electricity grid will therefore need to have a higher overall capacity, and to 
meet new needs.  London’s energy strategy will need to look at infrastructure 
alongside supply and demand to ensure the city’s needs are met in the best value, 
most sustainable way.  The strategy will also need to co-ordinate with more general 
spatial and development planning to ensure that generation, distribution and demand 
are co-ordinated spatially.  The Energy Plan modelling can be a useful tool for this co-
ordination, as it has a strong spatial element and should enable modelling of the 
energy implications of new development.48   

Heat networks must be installed more rapidly if they are to make a difference 
4.21 The GLA envisages a major role (potentially a third of London’s heating by 2050) for 

district heat networks, supplied in the long term by low-carbon heat such as large 
scale heat pumps using ground, water or waste heat sources.49  If this is to be realised, 
heat network installation must be reinvigorated now.  The Energy Plan envisages heat 
networks covering most of inner London and parts of the outer suburbs, in the mixed 
or decentralised scenarios.  The current strategy (highlighting heating needs and 
supporting some projects as they seek investment) is delivering less than required.50   

4.22 Advocates of decentralised heat must also address air pollution concerns.  Current 
technology for providing heat to networks is based on combustion of gas or other fuels 
– this emits local toxic pollutants such as nitrogen dioxide, which is a major health 
hazard in London.  The London Plan requires developments not to worsen air quality, 
and so air pollution improvements must be made before heat networks can go ahead 
with existing technology.51   

4.23 Ultimately the air pollution question, and the carbon emissions question, may be 
tackled by switching heat networks to a lower emission source such as efficient heat 

22 
 Page 78



pumps.  Heat pumps use electricity to transfer a much greater amount of heat energy 
from a source (which could be the ground, a body of water, or waste heat from 
workplaces, transport or other energy users) into the space to be heated.  To 
anticipate this shift and enable a real impact on carbon emissions, London’s heat 
networks must be designed and constructed from the beginning with the potential to 
use new energy sources.52 

 

The next Mayor should: 

 Develop the London Infrastructure Plan, London Energy Plan and London Plan to 
better show how energy distribution infrastructure and strategy will: 

• Achieve London’s potential for solar energy 
• Promote the development of decentralised electricity generation and grid 

connection, including by maintaining the zero-carbon homes requirement. 
• Work with the Government to establish how far the UK will bind itself to 

decarbonisation of grid electricity and therefore how viable is a low-carbon 
strategy based on centralised grid electricity. 

• Deliver heat via district scale networks (actions may include planning 
requirements, funding, and effective action against air pollution, as well as 
existing policies). 

• Promote the development of demand-smoothing electricity technologies such 
as the smart grid and energy storage. 

• Adapt to a post-fossil-fuel world, especially in the case of heat networks and 
existing fossil fuel infrastructure. 

• Allocate investment efficiently between distribution capacity, energy efficiency 
and decentralised generation. 

  

23 
 Page 79



5. A circular economy  

Key issues 
The current economy spends much money and labour extracting materials from the 
environment.  After use, we throw a large proportion away, to landfill or incineration 
(damaging the environment) and lose much of the value in other materials by mixing 
them up and breaking them down in bulk recycling.  London is vulnerable to price rises 
and supply interruptions of globally scarce materials. Moving to a circular economy 
protects against these risks, and offers job and earning opportunities.  

5.1 The ‘circular economy’ is a relatively new term and requires some explanation, though 
many aspects, from repairing goods to second-hand shops, have a long history.   

What is the ‘circular economy’? 

 A circular economy minimises the use of virgin materials and minimises waste, by 
using and re-using materials efficiently.  It emphasises the most sustainable elements  
of established waste management thinking and adds new ways of making and using 
goods to prevent waste.  It therefore offers savings in cost, waste, carbon emissions 
and resources, and protects against rising prices of globally scarce materials.   

 The term ‘circular’ emphasises that materials go round the economy in cycles, in 
contrast to the one-time throughput of the ‘linear economy’.  

 Linear Economy 

 

 
  

 Circular Economy 

 

 

 

 

 

The circular economy adds:  

Sharing, renting and re-use to get more total value from the same goods (for example 
a car club or a used phone handset) 

Materials processing to make new goods from old (for example repairing a broken 
kettle, or recycling waste plastic into new goods of the same quality plastic) 

Natural 
Resources 

Product 
Making 

Product 
Use 

Waste 
Handling 

Waste 
Disposal 

Natural 
Resources 

Product 
Making 

Product 
Use 

Waste 
Handling 

Waste 
Disposal 

Materials 
Processing 

Sharing & 
Re-use 

24 
 Page 80



London can reap rewards as the world shifts to a circular economy  
5.2 The world’s economy will become increasingly circular, and London can play to its 

economic strengths in facilitating this transition.  London’s business services sectors, 
and its knowledge and innovation sectors, can provide the new kinds of finance, 
contracts, business planning, data and technologies, and the innovative policy and 
regulation, needed to make the transition to a circular economy.  All of this work for 
London translates into several billion pounds of commercial income every year53 and 
tens of thousands of highly skilled jobs.54  At the local and operational level, there will 
need to be a revival of declining technical skills such as repair and assembly, offering 
jobs also at the medium and lower range of the skills spectrum and helping reduce 
unemployment.55   

5.3 The GLA can provide leadership towards a circular economy, guidance and appropriate 
policies.  The next Mayor can have a transformative effect by setting a tone and a 
vision and integrating circular economy ideas into Mayoral strategies and GLA actions.  
The London Waste and Recycling Board (LWARB) is already doing preparatory work.56   

The next Mayor should: 

Put circularity at the heart of London’s economic development strategy. 

London’s waste management needs to focus much more closely at the top of the 
waste hierarchy   

5.4 Waste management thinking has for years been based on the ‘waste hierarchy’.   

What is the ‘waste hierarchy’? 

 The waste hierarchy ranks waste management methods from the most desirable 
(reducing the amount that becomes waste in the first place) to the least (dumping 
waste in the environment, for example as landfill). 

 
  

25 
 Page 81



5.5 Current waste strategy is largely directed at keeping waste out of the very bottom tier 
of the hierarchy, landfill and other disposal, by raising it to the two next lower tiers, 
incineration and recycling.  The circular economy, in contrast, uses mainly the top of 
the waste hierarchy: waste reduction and re-use and, within recycling, the most value-
preserving forms like repair and remanufacture. 57   

5.6 Waste can be reduced by improving stock management of perishable goods, by 
designing goods more efficiently and even providing certain goods (as already with 
media such as books, movies and music) in virtual form.  Goods can be re-used 
through business models like rental, leasing and service provision, and through the 
sharing economy.  There are a number of enterprises in London already facilitating re-
use and keeping serviceable goods out of the waste stream, but there is considerable 
scope for these models to expand through the economy.  Reduction and re-use are 
under-emphasised in current waste strategies and are not even measured well.58  

5.7 Conventional bulk recycling can often actually lose much of the value in the materials 
it processes, for example by mixing together different types of plastics, or types of 
paper and card, and by spending energy pulping or melting materials down.  It is 
possible, however, to preserve more of the value by sorting materials into more 
similar types, or by using parts as-is to make new goods.   

5.8 Recycling processes of all sorts can be facilitated by simple changes to the way goods 
are designed and manufactured – for example by using screws instead of glue to 
assemble parts, or single materials instead of composites.59   

The next Mayor should: 

Give priority and strategic focus to the top of the waste hierarchy: waste reduction; 
renting and service provision; and re-use.   

Measure and target these parts of the waste management mix. 

Next prioritise lower-carbon, value-preserving forms of reprocessing, such as repair 
and remanufacture, distinguishing them from destructive recycling.   

Use economic development strategy to facilitate (and take advantage of) the circular 
economy by helping London businesses lead on design and manufacture changes and 
the use of reprocessed materials. 

 

  

26 
 Page 82



Efficient bulk recycling requires well separated waste streams of consistent quality 
and large scale: standardised waste collection across London could deliver this 

5.9 The recent EU ‘circular economy’ proposals have a target of 65 per cent of municipal 
waste to be recycled (and less than 10 per cent landfilled) by 2030.  Though a modest 
step towards a circular economy, this is considerably above the current London 
performance of recycling 33 per cent.60   

5.10 Efficient recycling depends on well separated waste streams, and would benefit from 
fewer, larger contracts for each waste type.  One way to achieve this could be to 
establish a single London waste authority, but this would not be welcomed by local 
authorities because of the need to be responsive to local concerns, and because of the 
interrelationship of waste issues with other local services and policies.61    

5.11 However, it might be more feasible, and potentially equally efficient, for boroughs to 
align their household waste collections to a standard system, for easy aggregation 
across London. A standard system would also be simple and convenient for 
householders, which would in turn increase compliance and again improve the quality 
of the waste streams.62   

5.12 Boroughs have contractual commitments which limit their freedom to change 
arrangements in the short term, but a route map to standardisation would enable 
them to move towards the new system and realise efficiency savings as contract 
renewal allows.63   

5.13 Standardisation would not mean exactly the same system for everyone.  Different 
housing types (such as flats, terraces and houses with larger gardens) could have 
different arrangements.  Including some business waste collections could reduce 
vehicle movements and simplify contracts.  The Waste and Resources Action 
Programme (WRAP) is working at the national level on models for waste collection 
which could form a framework for standardised arrangements64 

The next Mayor should: 

Bring together stakeholders to develop a route map to standardised municipal waste 
collections across London.  Some business waste could be included as well. 

  

 

  

27 
 Page 83



Notes
1 The London Infrastructure Plan covers population in Chapter 2.   Another recent 
estimate appears in Future Proofing London, by Atkins, the Centre for London and 
Oxford Economics  
2 Graph modelled on that on page 8 of the London Infrastructure Plan (also the source 
for the population projection scenarios).  Data to re-create the historic section of the 
graph from London Datastore, Historical Census Population. 
3 Come Rain or Shine: London’s adaptation to the risks of severe weather.  
Environment Committee report, March 2015 
4 Weathering the Storm: the impact of climate change on London’s economy.  
Economy Committee report, July 2015.  See also Chapter 5 of this report.   
5 Environment Committee meeting of 10 December 2015 
6 The current Mayor, Boris Johnson, published a raft of statutory environmental 
strategies in his first term of office, including: 
Air quality strategy, December 2010 
Climate change adaptation strategy, October 2011 
Climate change mitigation and energy strategy, October 2011 
Municipal waste management strategy, November 2011   
And has some non-statutory environmental strategies, including: 
Water strategy, October 2011 
Business waste strategy, November 2011 
All-London Green Grid, March 2015 
Other statutory environmental strategies date back to the previous Mayoralty of Ken 
Livingstone, including: 
Biodiversity strategy, July 2002 
Ambient noise strategy, March 2004 
Many Mayoral strategies not generally regarded as ‘environmental’ are in fact crucial 
to the environmental sustainability of London’s management and growth, including: 
Transport strategy and related documents 
London Plan and frequent updates 
Housing strategy 
Economic development strategy 
Health inequalities strategy 
7 All the published reports of the Committee’s investigations are available on the 
environment publications page of the London Assembly website 
8 Recent reports on air pollution include: Driving Away from Diesel; a consultation 
response on the Mayor’s Ultra Low Emission Zone; and a consultation response on the 
UK Air Quality Plan.   
9 Water Matters, Environment Committee report, September 2012 
10 Thames Water, Water Resources Management Plan, chapter 6, paragraph 6.2.1  
‘Supply’ and ‘Demand’ represent the most likely levels.  ‘Headroom’ is an allowance 

28 
 

 

 

Page 84

https://www.london.gov.uk/file/19038/download?token=1Zj5uQZf
http://www.atkinsglobal.co.uk/en-GB/uk-and-europe/about-us/reports/future-proofing-london
https://www.london.gov.uk/file/19038/download?token=1Zj5uQZf
http://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/historic-census-population
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Come%20rain%20or%20shine%20report.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Economy%20Committee%20Weathering%20the%20Storm_0.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/mayors-air-quality-strategy
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/managing-risks-increasing-resilience-mayors
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/delivering-londons-energy-future-mayors-climate
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/mayors-municipal-waste-management-strategy
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/securing-london%E2%80%99s-water-future-mayor%E2%80%99s-water
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/mayors-business-waste-management-strategy
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/all-london-green-grid
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/connecting-london%E2%80%99s-nature-mayor%E2%80%99s-biodiversity
https://www.london.gov.uk/file/2648/download?token=eDe3pOfi
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing-and-land/housing-strategy/mayors-housing-strategy
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Economic-Development-Strategy.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/health/health-inequalities/how-health-inequalities-strategy-was-developed
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications?topic=1487&order=DESC&url=
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/driving-away-diesel-reducing-air-pollution
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/london-assemblys-response-mayors-consultatio-0
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/london-assemblys-response-mayors-consultatio-0
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/london-assembly-response-national-air-quality
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/london-assembly-response-national-air-quality
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Water%20management%20report%20pdf.pdf
http://www.thameswater.co.uk/tw/common/downloads/wrmp/WRMP14_Section_6.pdf


that water companies are required to make for uncertainty in their future projections 
of demand, yield from water sources, climate change and so on.  It is explained in 
Chapter 5.   
11 Water Matters report and Environment Committee meeting of 1 October 2015   
12 Environment Committee meeting of 1 October 2015 
13 Flood risks in London, Environment Committee graphic report, April 2014, and For a 
Rainy Day, Environment Committee report, July 2011 
14 Environment Committee meeting of 4 February 2016, discussion on flood risk and 
climate change adaptation 
15 Met Office, Past Weather Events page  
16 For a Rainy Day 
17 Climate change adaptation strategy and Water strategy 
18 Draft London Sustainable Drainage Action Plan.  See also the Mayor’s general 
sustainable drainage page and the Environment Committee meeting of 4 February 
2016, discussion on flood risk and climate change adaptation 
19 As noted at the 4 February meeting, it has not been specified whether this target 
refers to the total annual runoff, to peak runoff, or some other measure.   
20 Environment Committee meeting of 4 February 2016, discussion on flood risk and 
climate change adaptation, Environment Committee meeting of 1 October 2015, 
Environment Committee visit to Barking Riverside, 3 September 2015, For a Rainy Day, 
and Response to the Mayor’s Infrastructure Plan, Planning Committee letter to the 
Mayor, June 2014.   
21 Environment Committee meeting of 1 October 2015 and Environment Committee 
meeting of 4 February 2016, discussion on flood risk and climate change adaptation 
22 Green Sprawl: our current affection for a preservation myth?  London Society, 2014 
23 London Infrastructure Plan and Response to the Mayor’s Infrastructure Plan 
24 Tree canopy target given at GLA trees and woodlands page; central London 
vegetation target in London Plan policy 5.10;  river restoration targets and delivery 
against them discussed in London Plan Annual Monitoring Report 11 2013-14 page 51 
and letter from Mayor to Assembly, April 2014 
25 Green Infrastructure Task Force report, December 2015 
26 For a Rainy Day 
27 Environment Committee meeting of 1 October 2015; and Environment Committee 
meeting of 4 February 2016, discussion on biodiversity.  See also Up or Out: A False 
Choice – options for London’s growth.   
28 Environment Committee meeting of 1 October 2015 
29 Cutting Carbon in London – 2015 Update, Environment Committee graphic report, 
November 2015 
30 London Infrastructure Plan 
31 Total final energy consumption at regional and local authority level, DECC, 
September 2015 and GLA 2014 round of trend-based population projections – Results, 
GLA Intelligence Unit, June 2014  

29 
 

 

 

Page 85

http://www.thameswater.co.uk/wrmp/Section_5_-_Allowing_for_Risk_and_Uncertainty.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Water%20management%20report%20pdf.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13138/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2001-Oct-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13138/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2001-Oct-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/flood-risks-london
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/rainy-day
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/rainy-day
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13746/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2004-Feb-2016%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13746/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2004-Feb-2016%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/climate/uk/interesting
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/rainy-day
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/managing-risks-increasing-resilience-mayors
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/securing-london%E2%80%99s-water-future-mayor%E2%80%99s-water
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/lsdap_final.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/climate-change-weather-and-water/sustainable-drainage
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/climate-change-weather-and-water/sustainable-drainage
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13746/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2004-Feb-2016%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13746/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2004-Feb-2016%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13746/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2004-Feb-2016%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13746/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2004-Feb-2016%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13138/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2001-Oct-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s50126/09a%20Barking%20Riverside%20Notes.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/rainy-day
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Planning%20Committee%20-%20Infrastruture%20Plan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13138/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2001-Oct-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13746/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2004-Feb-2016%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://www.londonsociety.org.uk/green-sprawl-our-current-affection-for-a-preservation-myth/
https://www.london.gov.uk/file/19038/download?token=1Zj5uQZf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Planning%20Committee%20-%20Infrastruture%20Plan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/parks-green-spaces-and-biodiversity/trees-and-woodlands
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-london-plan/london-plan-chapter-5/policy-510-urban-greening
https://www.london.gov.uk/file/22582/download?token=gAMtPLXc
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/34%2014-04-07%20Letter%20from%20Mayor%20re%2014%20February%20Motions.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/green-infrastructure-task-force-report
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/rainy-day
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13138/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2001-Oct-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13747/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%207%20Thursday%2004-Feb-2016%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/up_or_out_report.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/up_or_out_report.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13138/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2001-Oct-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_assembly_environment_committee_-_cutting_carbon_in_london_2015_update_0.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/file/19038/download?token=1Zj5uQZf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/total-final-energy-consumption-at-regional-and-local-authority-level-2005-to-2010
http://files.datapress.io/london/dataset/2014-round-population-projections/update-03-2015-2014rnd-trend-proj-results.pdf


32 See online advice from Energy Saving Trust and Good Housekeeping  
33 Environment Committee meeting of 5 November 2015 
34 London Energy Plan.  See also Energy for London commentary  
35 Environment Committee meeting of 5 November 2015 
36 Environment Committee meeting of 5 November 2015, Could Do Better: a report 
card on progress with Mayoral carbon reduction targets, Environment Committee 
report July 2014, and Cutting Carbon in London – 2015 Update, Response to the 
Mayor’s Infrastructure Plan.   
37 London Energy Plan  
38 Cutting Carbon in London – 2015 Update 
39 Climate change mitigation and energy strategy 
40 London Energy Plan 
41 Could Do Better, The Mayor’s Climate Change Mitigation and Energy Annual Report: 
2013-2014, London Infrastructure Plan 
42 Bring Me Sunshine! How London’s homes could generate more solar energy.  
Environment Committee report, October 2015 
43 London Energy Plan – note that the solar power uptake is shown in the maps, 
though not mentioned in the downloadable narrative report.  
44 Environment Committee meeting of 5 November 2015 
45 London Infrastructure Plan, London Energy Plan 
46 Environment Committee meeting of 5 November 2015 
47 Environment Committee meeting of 5 November 2015 
48 London Energy Plan, London Infrastructure Plan, Environment Committee meeting 
of 5 November 2015 
49 Environment Committee meeting of 5 November 2015, Climate change mitigation 
and energy strategy, London Energy Plan 
50 Environment Committee meeting of 5 November 2015, The Mayor’s Climate Change 
Mitigation and Energy Annual Report: 2013-2014 
51 London Plan policy 7.14, Environment Committee meeting of 5 November 2015, Air 
pollution issues paper, Environment Committee report, December 2012, page 14 
52 Environment Committee meeting of 5 November 2015 
53 London the Circular Economy Capital, London Waste and Recycling Board report, 
December 2015 
54 Employment and the circular economy: Job creation through resource efficiency in 
London, WRAP report for the GLA and others, December 2015 
55 London the Circular Economy Capital and Environment Committee meeting of 10 
December 2015 
56 London the Circular Economy Capital and Environment Committee meeting of 10 
December 2015 
57 Municipal waste management strategy 
58 Environment Committee meeting of 10 December 2015, Discussion by the Green 
Alliance of the EU Circular Economy Package 

30 
 

 

 

Page 86

http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/domestic/energy-saving-quick-wins
http://www.goodhousekeeping.co.uk/consumer-advice/five-simple-energy-saving-measures-for-the-home
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/scenarios-2050-london-energy-plan
http://www.energyforlondon.org/london-energy-plan-scenarios-and-energy-infrastructure-map/
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Carbon%20targets%20report-Could%20Do%20Better.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Carbon%20targets%20report-Could%20Do%20Better.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_assembly_environment_committee_-_cutting_carbon_in_london_2015_update_0.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Planning%20Committee%20-%20Infrastruture%20Plan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Planning%20Committee%20-%20Infrastruture%20Plan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/scenarios-2050-london-energy-plan
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_assembly_environment_committee_-_cutting_carbon_in_london_2015_update_0.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/delivering-londons-energy-future-mayors-climate
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/scenarios-2050-london-energy-plan
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Carbon%20targets%20report-Could%20Do%20Better.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/CCMES%20annual%20report_2013-14_0.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/CCMES%20annual%20report_2013-14_0.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/file/19038/download?token=1Zj5uQZf
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/bring-me-sunshine-how-london%E2%80%99s-homes-could
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/scenarios-2050-london-energy-plan
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/file/19038/download?token=1Zj5uQZf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/scenarios-2050-london-energy-plan
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/scenarios-2050-london-energy-plan
https://www.london.gov.uk/file/19038/download?token=1Zj5uQZf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/delivering-londons-energy-future-mayors-climate
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/delivering-londons-energy-future-mayors-climate
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/energy/scenarios-2050-london-energy-plan
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/CCMES%20annual%20report_2013-14_0.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/CCMES%20annual%20report_2013-14_0.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-london-plan/london-plan-chapter-7/policy-714-improving-air
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Air%20pollution%20issues%20paper%20pdf_0.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Air%20pollution%20issues%20paper%20pdf_0.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13351/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2005-Nov-2015%2010.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://www.lwarb.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/LWARB-circular-economy-report_web_09.12.15.pdf
http://www.londonsdc.org/documents/LondonCircularEconomyJobsReport2015OnlineVersionFinal.pdf
http://www.londonsdc.org/documents/LondonCircularEconomyJobsReport2015OnlineVersionFinal.pdf
http://www.lwarb.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/LWARB-circular-economy-report_web_09.12.15.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://www.lwarb.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/LWARB-circular-economy-report_web_09.12.15.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/environment-publications/mayors-municipal-waste-management-strategy
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://www.londonsdc.org/documents/LondonCircularEconomyJobsReport2015OnlineVersionFinal.pdf
http://www.londonsdc.org/documents/LondonCircularEconomyJobsReport2015OnlineVersionFinal.pdf


59 Environment Committee meeting of 10 December 2015 
60 Environment Committee meeting of 10 December 2015, Local authority collected 
waste from households from January 2010 to March 2015 - England data, Defra, and 
EU ‘Circular Economy Package’ 
61 Environment Committee meeting of 10 December 2015 
62 Environment Committee meeting of 10 December 2015 
63 Environment Committee meeting of 10 December 2015 
64 Environment Committee meeting of 10 December 2015, and WRAP page on 
household recycling collection systems 

31 
 

 

Page 87

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/env18-local-authority-collected-waste-annual-results-tables
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/env18-local-authority-collected-waste-annual-results-tables
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/circular-economy/index_en.htm
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13511/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Thursday%2010-Dec-2015%2014.00%20Environment%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://www.wrap.org.uk/node/12997


Environment Committee  
 

©Greater London Authority March 2016 
 

Appendix 1 – Agenda for the next 
Mayoralty 
 

The next Mayor should: 

Put long-term sustainability at the heart of all Mayoral strategies, positioning London 
to benefit from the century’s economic shifts, while improving quality of life for 
Londoners, biodiversity and resilience to severe weather, and reducing London’s 
impact on the global environment. 

 

The next Mayor should: 

Further develop and build on work with water management bodies to secure greater 
integration of water strategy across supply, demand, drainage and flood risk 

Use Mayoral powers to fully support integrated water strategy, including by: 

• embedding sustainable integrated water management strongly in statutory 
Mayoral strategies, including the London Plan and the Transport Strategy as 
well as a new Environment Strategy 

• using Mayoral funding streams, including housing, transport and retrofit 
programmes, to support water strategy where appropriate 

• requiring integrated water management plans for major new development 
areas 

• continuing to support the London Water Group and ensuring that Mayoral 
bodies engage with its work and Mayoral water strategy 

Using these powers, promote sustainable measures such as sustainable drainage, 
permeable paving, dual water systems, and rainwater capture, especially where they 
offer multiple benefits 

Progress the work outlined in the Sustainable Drainage Action Plan, keeping it under 
review with regard to implementation and any additional needs emerging from 
population growth, development or climate change  

Lobby Ofwat and government for necessary regulatory changes to permit integrated, 
sustainable and long-term-focused water strategy (these may include aligning or 
integrating drainage plans with water resource management plans, and ensuring that 
longer-term strategy is drawn up before shorter-term business plans) 

Engage in the debate on options for a major new water source to meet projected 
water shortfalls. 

  

    Page 88



The next Mayor should: 

Seek to protect London’s green and blue infrastructure and add to it where possible 

Ensure London gets more environmental service benefit out of its green and blue 
infrastructure by strategically planning the infrastructure’s multiple uses 

In the Environment Strategy, set out how green and blue infrastructure will be 
evaluated and mapped by function, and how these functions will be protected and 
enhanced as London develops (this could complement or expand on the Infrastructure 
Asset Register) 

In the London Plan, amend the green space hierarchy to take account of uses and not 
just area, promote the accessibility of green space and require strategic assessment of 
green infrastructure requirements for developments 

Take forward the report of the Green Infrastructure Task Force 

Encourage multifunctional uses, including enhancing drainage and biodiversity, in 
Mayor-funded parks programmes 

Set ambitious further river restoration targets and recognise the benefits of upper 
river catchment flood alleviation in the next iteration of the London Plan 

Look for ways to further discourage the paving over of front gardens and to reverse 
this trend, for example by showcasing good practice in de-paving. 

  

The next Mayor should: 

Plan for London to reduce its overall energy usage, for example as in the London 
Energy Plan Low demand scenario, rather than increase it as in the Infrastructure Plan  
(reduction should be particularly considered in carbon-intensive uses) 

Carry energy efficiency and other demand reduction measures through to revisions of 
the Infrastructure Plan, London Plan, Economic Development Strategy, Housing 
Strategy and Transport Strategy as well as the Environment Strategy   

Retain and implement the zero-carbon homes standard 

Review energy efficiency retrofit programmes with a view to implementing more 
effective models and accelerating retrofit activity to meet the 2025 climate change 
targets. 

 

33 
 Page 89



The next Mayor should: 

 Develop the London Infrastructure Plan, London Energy Plan and London Plan to 
better show how energy distribution infrastructure and strategy will: 

• Achieve London’s potential for solar energy 
• Promote the development of decentralised electricity generation and grid 

connection, including by maintaining the zero-carbon homes requirement 
• Work with the Government to establish how far the UK will bind itself to 

decarbonisation of grid electricity and therefore how viable is a low-carbon 
strategy based on centralised grid electricity 

• Deliver heat via district-scale networks (actions may include planning 
requirements, funding, and effective action against air pollution, as well as 
existing policies) 

• Promote the development of demand smoothing electricity technologies such 
as the smart grid and energy storage 

• Adapt to a post-fossil-fuel world, especially in the case of heat networks and 
existing fossil fuel infrastructure 

• Allocate investment efficiently between distribution capacity, energy efficiency 
and decentralised generation. 

  

The next Mayor should: 

Put circularity at the heart of London’s economic development strategy. 

  

The next Mayor should: 

Give priority and strategic focus to the top of the waste hierarchy: waste reduction; 
renting and service provision; and re-use   

Measure and target these parts of the waste management mix 

Next prioritise lower-carbon, value-preserving forms of reprocessing, such as repair 
and remanufacture, distinguishing them from destructive recycling   

Use economic development strategy to facilitate (and take advantage of) the circular 
economy by helping London businesses lead on design and manufacture changes and 
the use of reprocessed materials. 

 

  

34 
 Page 90



The next Mayor should: 

Bring together stakeholders to develop a route map to standardised municipal waste 
collections across London.  Some business waste could be included as well. 

  

 

35 
 Page 91



 

Appendix 2 – Contributors 
The Committee received views and information in writing from: 

Affinity Water 
Bexley LA21 
Bexley Natural Environment Forum 
Campaign for Better Transport 
Consumer Council for Water 
CPRE London 
Crown Estate 
Environment Agency 
Environmental Services Association 
Extreme Low Energy 
Freight Transport Association 
Friends of the River Crane Environment 
Institution of Civil Engineers 
London Borough of Southwark 
London Borough of Sutton 
LEDNet / London Councils 
Living Streets 
London Climate Change Partnership 
London Fire Brigade 
London Parks and Green Spaces Forum 
London Wildlife Trust 
London Sustainable Development Commission 
New West End Company 
Urban Water Systems and Interactions Group, Imperial College London 
Westminster City Council 
Woodland Trust 
Plus two individual residents 
 
The Committee held three public meetings with invited expert guests: 

1 October 2015 
Alex Nickson, Greater London Authority (GLA)   
Andrew Jones, GLA.   
Richard Aylard, Thames Water 
Gary Grant, Green Infrastructure Consultancy Ltd. 
Tony Leach, London Parks and Green Spaces Forum 
Jon Best, London Boroughs Biodiversity Forum (and LB Southwark) 
 

    Page 92



 

©Greater London Authority 
 

5 November 2015 
Patrick Feehily, GLA 
Andrew Richmond, GLA   
Peter North, GLA 
Syed Ahmed, Energy for London 
Will Dawson, Forum for the Future 
Tony Glover, Energy Networks Association 
Pedro Guertler, UK Association for the Conservation of Energy 
 
10 December 2015 
Clare Ollerenshaw, London Waste and Recycling Board 
Andrew Richmond, GLA 
Mark Ash, East London Waste Authority 
David Beadle, North London Waste Authority 
Dustin Benton, Green Alliance 
Lucy Chamberlin, Royal Society of Arts and Manufactures  
Samantha Heath, London Sustainability Exchange 
Gemma George, London Sustainability Exchange  
Debbie Hitchen, Anthesis Group  
Rob Holdway, Giraffe Innovation 
Pyarali Jamal, London Re-use Ltd. 
 
The Committee also visited the Barking Riverside development on 3 
September 2015. 
 
 
  

 
 Page 93



 

©Greater London Authority 
 

Orders and translations 
How to order  

For further information on this report or to order a copy, please contact Mary 
Dolan, External Relations Officer  
Mary.Dolan@london.gov.uk   

020 7983 4603  

See it for free on our website  

You can also view a copy of the report on the GLA website: 
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/publications   

Large print, braille or translations  

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of this report in large print or 
braille, or a copy of the summary and main findings in another language, then 
please call us on: 020 7983 4100 or email: 
assembly.translations@london.gov.uk  

Chinese 

 

Hindi 

 
Vietnamese 

 

Bengali 

 
Greek 

 

Urdu 

 
Turkish 

 

Arabic 

 
Punjabi 

 

Gujarati 

 

 
 

 Page 94

mailto:Mary.Dolan@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/publications
mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

©Greater London Authority 
 

  

 
 Page 95



 

©Greater London Authority 
 

 
 
 

Greater London Authority 

City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries 020 7983 4100 
Minicom 020 7983 4458 

www.london.gov.uk 

This publication is printed on recycled paper 
 
 
 

 
 

 Page 96



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Environmental Challenges and 
Priorities for the New Mayoralty  

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 16 June 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1 Summary 

 

1.1 This paper sets out background information for a discussion with invited guests concerning the 

environmental challenges and priorities facing London going into the new Mayoralty.  

 

 

2 Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to invited 

guests on the environmental challenges and priorities of the new Mayoralty, and notes 

the subsequent discussion. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion. 

 

 

3 Background   
 

3.1 The environment is a major area of responsibility for the Mayor, who is required by law to have an 

Environment Strategy covering: 

 Air Quality; 

 Climate Change Mitigation and Energy; 

 Climate Change Adaptation; 

 Municipal Waste;  

 Ambient Noise; and 

 Biodiversity. 

3.2 The Mayor also takes a strategic lead on other environmental areas (including, in the last Mayoralty, 

water and business waste), and addresses environmental issues in other statutory strategies such as 

the London Plan and Transport Strategy.   

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



        

3.3 This Committee has investigated the Mayor’s actions and other issues in all of these areas, and 

published extensive findings and recommendations during previous Mayoralties.1 

 

 

4 Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 Going into the new Mayoralty and the new Assembly term with a number of new Members on the 

Committee, there is an opportunity for an open discussion of what environmental issues should be 

highest priorities for Mayoral action and for scrutiny by this Committee.   

 

4.2 To this end the Committee has invited a number of experts and stakeholders from outside the 

Greater London Authority (GLA), representing a range of areas of interest and types of organisation.  

Guests invited to the meeting include: 

 Syed Ahmed, Director, Energy for London; 

 Richard Aylard CVO, Sustainability and External Affairs Director, Thames Water; 

 Denise Beedell, Development Manager Greater London, Federation of Small Businesses; 

 Dr Sean Beevers, Senior Lecturer, King’s College London; 

 Samantha Heath, Chief Executive, London Sustainability Exchange; 

 Richard Howard, Head of Environment and Energy, Policy Exchange; 

 Michael Jacobs, Associate Director Energy, Transport and Climate, Institute for Public Policy 

Research; and 

 Mark Jenkinson, London City Director, Siemens. 

 

 

5 Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6 Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 6541 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk  

 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications?topic=1487&order=DESC&url=  

Page 98

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications?topic=1487&order=DESC&url


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Environment Committee Work 
Programme 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 16 June 2016 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 

 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report establishes the Committee’s early work programme for the 2016/17 Assembly year.        

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee agrees to use its next formal meeting on 13 July 2016 for: 

(a) A question and answer session with invited guests concerning the Mayor’s 

environmental priorities; and 

(b) A question and answer session with invited guests concerning air pollution in 

London and the proposed ‘T-Charge’. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for the question and answer 

sessions at the Committee’s meeting on 13 July 2016. 

 

2.3 That the Committee notes the record of the Committee’s visit to Millbrook Proving 

Ground, as attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1 This report presents an initial work programme for the Committee.  Similar reports will be submitted 

to subsequent Committee meetings to track the Committee’s work and propose any changes, 

including confirming dates and topics as required. 

   

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 11



        

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

 Environmental Challenges and Priorities for the New Mayoralty 

4.1 The Committee is today discussing, with a panel of invited guests, the environmental challenges that 

face London.  A covering report on this topic, together with a list of invited guests, can be found at 

Agenda Item 10.   
 

4.2 It is proposed that part of the Committee’s next formal meeting on 13 July 2016 be used to discuss 

the Mayor’s environmental priorities, potentially with any Mayoral deputy or adviser who may be 

appointed with responsibility for environmental issues.  The Committee is recommended to delegate 

authority to the Chair to agree the scope and terms of reference for the discussion.     

 

Air Pollution and the T-Charge 

4.3 It is further proposed that part of the Committee’s meeting on 13 July 2016 be used for a question 

and answer session with invited experts concerning air pollution in London and the Mayor’s policy 

proposals, including the T-Charge scheme.  The Committee is recommended to delegate authority to 

the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of 

reference for the discussion.  

 
 Forthcoming Meetings and Other Business 

4.4 The table below sets out the allocated dates for the Environment Committee in 2016/17 and lists 

the main business proposed for each date at this stage.  The business for future dates is subject to 

change as the Committee develops proposals for its work.  Dates may be used for formal Committee 

meetings, informal meetings, site visits or other activities for the Committee.  The work programme 

also provides for the Committee to respond to any matters that arise during the year.    
 

Meeting Date Proposed topic 

Wednesday 13 July 2016 

Committee meeting – Proposed for agreement 

Session 1: Environmental Priorities for the New 

Mayoralty 

Session 2: Air Pollution and the T-Charge 

Thursday 15 September 2016 To be agreed 

Thursday 13 October 2016 To be agreed 

Thursday 10 November 2016 To be agreed 

Thursday 8 December 2016 To be agreed 

Thursday 19 January 2017 To be agreed 

Wednesday 22 February 2017 To be agreed 

Thursday 16 March 2017 To be agreed 

 
   

 

Page 100



        

 Topics for Later Scrutiny 

4.5 An informal meeting of the party Group Lead Members for Environment was recently convened, to 

take place after the printing of this agenda.  That meeting, together with other discussion among 

Committee Members, is to inform further work programme proposals at future meetings. 
  
 Site Visit Notes – Millbrook Proving Ground 
4.6 The Environment Committee undertook a site visit to Millbrook Proving Ground, a vehicle test track 

used by Transport for London for emissions research, on 29 February 2016.  A note of the site visit is 
attached at Appendix 1 for formal noting. 

 
 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 
 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1 – Note of the Committee’s site visit to Millbrook Proving Ground, 29 February 2016 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 6541 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

 
Visit to Millbrook Proving Ground 

 
The Environment Committee visited Millbrook Proving Ground on 29 February 2016.  In attendance were 
Committee Members Darren Johnson AM and Murad Qureshi AM, with staff from the scrutiny team and 
party Group offices, as well as Transport for London (TfL) and Millbrook Proving Ground.   
 
Millbrook Proving Ground is a laboratory and test track facility for motor vehicles, used by the motor 
industry, regulators and TfL to assess many aspects of vehicle performance, including fuel consumption and 
emissions of carbon dioxide and of other pollutants (such as oxides of nitrogen and particulate matter) 
under different conditions.  It is also a centre for the design, engineering and development of automotive 
systems.   
 
The visit heard briefings from Millbrook staff, and then toured the laboratories and test track to find out 
about the services offered and the test facilities.   
 
The Members heard of the history of the facility as an in-house testing station for the General Motors 
brands Vauxhall and Bedford.  Increasing its external work over the years it became an independent private 
company in 2013, and aims to provide objective and high quality testing, having no vehicle product line or 
proprietary design to favour.  
 
Millbrook now undertakes emissions, safety, reliability, ride and refinement, and many other kinds of testing 
on private automobiles, passenger and freight vehicles, specialist vehicles such as defence, security and 
emergency vehicles, as well as system components such as engines, petrochemicals and tyres.  The facility 
also carries out design and engineering work and specialist vehicle building such as converting standard 
vehicles for emergency services use.  Growth areas of work include luxury vehicles, motorsports, new 
technologies such as hybrid power trains, and the sensitive measurement of low emissions levels required by 
modern standards.   
 
Millbrook told Members that the pace of change of emissions regulations, about every three years since 
their introduction in 1971, is shorter than the lead time in vehicle design.  They said that the industry was 
happy with predictable tightening of regulation in a consistent direction, but did not like to be 
wrong-footed.   
 
They anticipated that the Euro 6c standard in 2017 would be a significant change.  Looking further ahead, 
the Committee heard that heat reclamation from exhaust and engine cooling was being explored to try to 
raise the efficiency of engines.   
 
The facilities viewed included emissions test chambers such as those used for vehicle type approval under 
Euro regulations, a climatic chamber with chassis dynamometer, engine test cells and the range of outdoor 
test tracks.  A chassis dynamometer uses roller resistance to simulate inertia and air resistance, to enable 
testing of vehicle performance in controlled conditions in the laboratory.  It uses a human driver who follows 
a set programme of acceleration and deceleration.  Exhaust gases are captured and analysed.  A major 
worldwide standard bus test programme was devised at Millbrook and is based on a real TfL route through 
central London.   
 
Members’ questions covered the variation from laboratory results seen in real on the road driving.  The 
general variability of conditions contributes to this, as well as factors impairing efficiency such as use of air 
conditioning, certain types of tyre and carrying extra loads.   
 
A new test cycle being introduced, the WLTC, includes a wider range of engine loads and revolution per 
minute (rpm) rates, simulating more ‘aggressive’ acceleration than in older test cycles, also perhaps 
reflecting the real urban use of vehicles better.   

Page 103



        

 
Members also saw the testing of vehicles on the road, using a portable laboratory carried on the vehicle and 
connected to the exhaust.  The extremely tight control of acceleration and deceleration used in lab tests is 
not possible on real roads, and a wider tolerance is accepted.  The results are then adjusted for the demands 
of each test run using statistical techniques.   
 

 

Page 104


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	6 Minutes
	06a Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript of Item 6

	7 Summary List of Actions
	8 Action Taken under Delegated Authority
	9 Environmental Pressures of London's Long Term Growth
	09a - Appendix 1 - Growing, growing, gone - Sustainable long-term growth report
	Chair’s foreword
	Executive summary
	1. London’s growth and sustainability
	2. Water management
	3.  Green, blue and grey infrastructure
	4. Energy and carbon emissions
	5. A circular economy
	Notes
	Appendix 1 – Agenda for the next Mayoralty
	Appendix 2 – Contributors
	Orders and translations


	10 Environmental Challenges and Priorities for the New Mayoralty
	11 Environment Committee Work Programme
	11a Appendix 1 - Millbrook visit notes


